

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy



EXPLORATORY STUDY OF HEALTH CARE COVERAGE AND EMPLOYMENT OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES:

LITERATURE REVIEW

October 1997

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation

The Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) is the principal advisor to the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) on policy development issues, and is responsible for major activities in the areas of legislative and budget development, strategic planning, policy research and evaluation, and economic analysis.

ASPE develops or reviews issues from the viewpoint of the Secretary, providing a perspective that is broader in scope than the specific focus of the various operating agencies. ASPE also works closely with the HHS operating divisions. It assists these agencies in developing policies, and planning policy research, evaluation and data collection within broad HHS and administration initiatives. ASPE often serves a coordinating role for crosscutting policy and administrative activities.

ASPE plans and conducts evaluations and research--both in-house and through support of projects by external researchers--of current and proposed programs and topics of particular interest to the Secretary, the Administration and the Congress.

Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy

The Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy (DALTCP), within ASPE, is responsible for the development, coordination, analysis, research and evaluation of HHS policies and programs which support the independence, health and long-term care of persons with disabilities--children, working aging adults, and older persons. DALTCP is also responsible for policy coordination and research to promote the economic and social well-being of the elderly.

In particular, DALTCP addresses policies concerning: nursing home and communitybased services, informal caregiving, the integration of acute and long-term care, Medicare post-acute services and home care, managed care for people with disabilities, long-term rehabilitation services, children's disability, and linkages between employment and health policies. These activities are carried out through policy planning, policy and program analysis, regulatory reviews, formulation of legislative proposals, policy research, evaluation and data planning.

This report was prepared under contract #HHS-100-96-0012 between HHS's ASPE/DALTCP and Lewin-VHI, Inc. For additional information about this subject, you can visit the DALTCP home page at http://aspe.hhs.gov/_/office_specific/daltcp.cfm or contact the office at HHS/ASPE/DALTCP, Room 424E, H.H. Humphrey Building, 200 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20201. The DALTCP Project Officer was Kathleen Bond.

EXPLORATORY STUDY OF HEALTH CARE COVERAGE AND EMPLOYMENT OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES: Literature Review

David Stapleton Gina Livermore Scott Scrivner Adam Tucker

Lewin Group, Inc.

October 27, 1997

Prepared for Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Contract #HHS-100-96-0012

The opinions and views expressed in this report are those of the authors. They do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Health and Human Services, the contractor or any other funding organization.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXE		iv
I.		1
	A. Background	
	B. Overview of the Report	2
II.	THE COMPLEX RELATIONSHIPS AMONG INSURANCE ACCESS, EMPLOYMENT, AND PROGRAM PARTICIPATION	4
	A. The Decision to Seek Employment	
	B. The Decision to Leave Employment	5
III.	DIRECT EVIDENCE OF THE RELATIONSHIP AMONG HEALTH INSURANCE, PROGRAM PARTICIPATION, AND EMPLOYMENT	
	OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES	7
	A. Medicaid	
	B. Medicare	
	C. Self-Reports of the Importance of Health Insurance to	40
	Employment and Program Participation	
IV.	EVIDENCE OF THE RELATIONSHIPS AMONG EMPLOYMENT, PROGRAM PARTICIPATION, AND ACCESS TO HEALTH	
	INSURANCE FOR OTHER POPULATIONS	
	A. Unmarried Mothers	
	B. Older Workers	
	C. The Elderly	
۷.	HEALTH INSURANCE AND EMPLOYMENT OF PEOPLE WITH	
	DISABILITIES	
	A. Employment and Program Participation of Persons with	
	Disabilities	
	B. Health Insurance Coverage and Expenditures of Persons with	
	Disabilities	
VI.	CONCLUSION	43
	A. What We Know	43
	B. Significant Gaps	44
	C. Work in Progress	45
	D. Recent Legislative Proposals	
VII.	REFERENCES	

LIST OF EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT 1:	Earnings and SSI and ption Drug Utilization and Expenditures in Community and LTCF Medicare Beneficiaries, 2001	15
EXHIBIT 2:	Relationship Between Earnings and SSI and Medicaid Benefits for an SSI Recipient Participating in 1619(a) and (b)	15
EXHIBIT 3:	Patterns of Disability and Work, 1990	30
EXHIBIT 4:	Work Limitation and Work Status, 1989	30
EXHIBIT 5:	Patterns of Employment by Education and Disability Status, 1990	32
EXHIBIT 6:	Employment Status by Age and Disability Status, 1990	33
EXHIBIT 7:	Incidence of Health Conditions among Those Described as Unable to Work, 1990	34
EXHIBIT 8:	Ten Most Frequently Reported Conditions as Cause of Physical, ADL, or IADL Limitations Among Persons Aged 15-64 Reporting a Limitation, 1991-1992	34
EXHIBIT 9:	Receipt of Benefit Payments by Disability Status and Gender, 1990	35
EXHIBIT 10:	Work Limitation and Benefit Receipt, 1989	36
EXHIBIT 11:	Mean Monthly Earnings by Age, Years of School Completed, and Disability Status, 1991	37
EXHIBIT 12:	Activity Limitations, Employment Status, and Health Insurance, 1990	38
EXHIBIT 13:	Health Insurance and Employment Status, 1990	39
EXHIBIT 14:	Health Insurance Coverage of Persons 18-64, 1989	40
EXHIBIT 15:	Percentage of Persons with Expenditures for Each Type of Health Care Service and Average Expenditure per User, Persons under Age 65, 1987	40

EXHIBIT 16:	Percent of Persons with Expenditures for Each Type of Health Care Service and Average Expenditure per User, Persons Under Age 65, 1987	41
EXHIBIT 17:	Incidence of Catastrophic Expenditures Among Selected Population Subgroups for Three Alternative Measures, 1987	42

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This literature review examines empirical evidence on health care coverage, employment, and public program participation among people with disabilities. The review is part of a larger project investigating the relationship between health care coverage and the employment of people with disabilities contracted for by the Office of Disability, Aging, and Long-Term Care Policy (ODALTCP), Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services with funds provided by the Office of Disability (OD) in the Social Security Administration (SSA). Other components of the overall project will include analyses of recent national data on employment and health care coverage, analyses of patterns of employment among SSI recipients in the work incentive program that allows health care benefits to continue after earnings are too high for receipt of cash benefits, and patterns of employment in two States where there have been expansions in the Medicaid program.

This is a time of intense discussion about reforms to federal programs that serve people with disabilities. People with disabilities cite fear of losing medical benefits and the services provided under Medicare and Medicaid as significant barriers to employment. Formal proposals for extending Medicare and Medicaid coverage to working people with disabilities have come from many sources including the National Council on Disability and the National Academy of Social Insurance. In addition, several bills that would extend health care coverage beyond that allowed under current law for working people with disabilities have been introduced in the Congress.

While most policy makers agree that current programs create substantial work disincentives for people with disabilities, there is much less agreement about the actual impact of the various disincentives and their relative importance. Advocates of expanded public insurance for people with disabilities are asked for empirical evidence of the actual "effect" of health care coverage on employment and program participation. The goal of this literature review is to synthesize information that may have direct value to policy makers; to provide background for the new research to be conducted under the project; and to identify gaps in knowledge about the importance of health care coverage in the employment and program participation decisions of persons with disabilities.

Major general findings of the literature review include the following:

 Health care costs for people with disabilities are generally much higher than for those without disabilities. On average, total health expenditures for non-elderly people with disabilities are about six times greater than expenditures of their nondisabled counterparts, and out-of-pocket expenditures are three times greater. One study found that persons with disabilities are significantly more likely to experience catastrophic out-of-pocket expenditures than persons without disabilities.

- The eligibility requirements for Medicare and Medicaid create financial incentives that discourage or encourage work, depending on the current status of the individual. For people with disabilities, qualification for Medicare and Medicaid is primarily contingent on participation in the Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) and Supplemental Security Income Insurance (SSI) programs which require that individuals not engage in substantial work, thereby creating a strong work disincentive for individuals with disabilities who lack health care benefits. For those on the programs, there are work incentive programs which allow for the continuation of health care benefits, but continued coverage is limited either in time (SSDI) or up to certain earnings levels (SSI). The programs thus create odd incentives for working persons with disabilities who lack insurance--they must reduce work to qualify for benefits, but subsequently may increase work and still maintain benefits, but only under limited circumstances.
- Many SSDI and SSI beneficiaries say they would work, or work more, except that they are afraid of losing their Medicare or Medicaid benefits. There is a growing body of anecdotal and survey evidence that people with disabilities identify loss of health care coverage as an important reason for not working or not working enough to exit from SSI or SSDI. The review found several examples of studies in which persons with disabilities, when asked, have indicated that the loss of health care benefits provided through Medicare or Medicaid was a deterrent to work.
- Health care coverage has substantial effects on the employment or program participation of other groups--single mothers, older workers, and the elderly. A number of studies find convincing evidence of a relationship between access to health care coverage and work and program participation decisions. Continued Medicaid coverage has been shown to have a positive effect on AFDC participation among singe mothers. A provision of the Medicaid program that allows elderly, low income Medicare beneficiaries to obtain Medicaid coverage without first having to be eligible for SSI is shown to significantly reduce SSI participation for that group. Access to post-retirement health insurance benefits is positively related to exits from the labor force among older workers.

In addition to reporting on the results of past research, the review provides statistics on patterns of disability and work using various definitions of disability. It also includes data on health insurance coverage and type of health care expenditures for persons with disabilities. A final section of the review identifies significant gaps in knowledge about health care coverage and employment, briefly reports on research in progress, and summarizes recent legislative proposals to extend public health care benefits to working persons with disabilities beyond what is allowed in current law.

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Background

The Office of the Assistant Secretary of Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) in the Department of Health and Human Services, using funds provided by the Social Security Administration (SSA), has contracted with The Lewin Group, Inc. to examine empirical evidence on the relationship between health insurance, employment, and program participation of people with disabilities. The Office of Disability, Aging, and Long-term Care (ODALTCP) in ASPE is directing the study. This literature review is a project report.

This study is being conducted during a time of intense debate about reforms to federal programs that serve people with disabilities. Most policymakers agree that the current programs create substantial work disincentives for people with disabilities, but there is much less agreement about the actual impact of the various disincentives and their relative importance. One set of policy options concerns changing the links between Medicare and the Social Security Disability Insurance (DI) program, and between Medicaid and the Supplemental Security Income (SSI) program. More generally, health insurance reforms that would expand access to health insurance for people with disabilities who are not DI or SSI recipients could have an impact on both employment and program participation. As we discuss further in Section II, however, the issue of how access to health insurance for people with disabilities will affect employment and program participation is more complex than it may first appear.

In another ASPE-supported project, we previously reviewed the literature on barriers and disincentives to employment for people with disabilities, including the literature on health insurance (Lewin-VHI, 1995b). We concluded that the disincentives posed by the ties between Medicare and Medicaid are large, providing reason to believe that there could be substantial labor force effects, but found no direct evidence of an impact on employment or program participation. We also found substantial evidence of links between health insurance access and both the employment and program participation of other populations (single mothers and older workers), and an independently conducted review reached substantially similar conclusions (Gruber and Kubik, 1995). The evidence reviewed supports the hypotheses of links for people with disabilities, but provides no information on the likely size of the impacts. The average person with severe disabilities has health care needs that are very high relative to those of the populations that were the subjects of these studies, but may also have other reasons not to respond to changes in insurance access--his or her health condition or impairments, disincentives associated with SSI/DI cash benefits, and perhaps others.

In this report, we present a review of the literature to update our previous findings. The report serves several purposes:

- to synthesize information that may have direct value to policymakers;
- to inform research to be conducted under this project; and
- to identify gaps in our knowledge about the importance of health insurance in the employment and program participation decisions of persons with disabilities.

B. Overview of the Report

The report is organized as follows:

In Section II, we discuss the differences in incentives related to health insurance access between persons who are considering leaving employment and persons participating in disability programs who are considering entering employment. Policies that provide greater access to health insurance for persons with disabilities will have different effects on different groups of individuals with disabilities, depending on their employment or program participation status and their current access to health insurance coverage.

In Section III, we present the findings of studies that have examined the relationship between access to Medicare and Medicaid and program/labor force participation of persons with disabilities. For Medicaid, the studies we review have examined how the value of Medicaid benefits affect SSI participation, and the impact of Section 1619 provisions, which extend SSI and Medicaid eligibility for recipients who work, on the employment and work effort of SSI recipients. For Medicare, the studies we review estimate the potential impact of eliminating the two-year waiting period for Medicare on medical care costs to DI beneficiaries, and examine the effect of extending the period of Medicare eligibility and allowing Medicare buy-in on the work effort of DI beneficiaries. These sections are very limited, however, both in scope and methodology. In the final subsection, we present information on the importance of health insurance obtained through self-reports from persons with disabilities.

In Section IV, we review studies that have examined the effect of access to health insurance on the work effort of groups other than persons with disabilities. The studies we review examine the effect of Medicaid provision on the participation of unmarried mothers in the AFDC program; the provision of health insurance through continuation of coverage laws (COBRA) and through retiree health benefits on the work effort of older workers; and the effect of a Medicare beneficiary buy-in program for Medicaid on SSI participation among the elderly.

In Section V, we present and discuss the available information on the health insurance and employment status of persons with disabilities. This section provide a basis for the empirical analyses we will conduct using national survey and SSA administrative data, the findings for which will be presented in a subsequent report.

In Section VI, we conclude with: a summary of what we know about the relationship between access to health insurance and the employment and program participation patterns of persons with disabilities; a discussion of significant gaps in our knowledge; a description of research currently underway that explores this issue; and a summary of recent legislative proposals to expand health insurance to persons with disabilities.

II. THE COMPLETE RELATIONSHIPS AMONG INSURANCE ACCESS, EMPLOYMENT, AND PROGRAM PARTICIPATION

While many suggest that delinking health insurance access from DI and SSI would unambiguously increase employment of people with disabilities, the issue is complex. Actual effects will depend on how the delinking is accomplished, availability of insurance from other sources, variation in the benefits provided by various types of insurance, current employment or program status of the individual, the individual's work history, eligibility for other programs (e.g., Transitional Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), Veterans benefits, general assistance), health care needs, age, skills, education, etc. Benefit variation is very important for some people with disabilities. Medicaid, which was designed as a last resort for people with disabilities and other vulnerable groups, can provide the most comprehensive benefits, including such long-term benefits as personal assistance services and assistive devices. Private health insurance and Medicare often do not provide coverage for services that some people with disabilities use intensively.

When thinking about this issue, we find it helpful to differentiate between the decision to seek (or increase) employment by a disabled individual, and the decision to leave (or decrease) employment. The discussion in the following two subsections focuses on these groups and the importance of considering current insurance status when estimating the potential effects of expansions in public health insurance.

We assume in the following discussion that public insurance expansions do not affect the provision of private insurance. As discussed later in this report, there is some evidence that public insurance expansion "crowds out" private insurance, and a potential effect of an expansion of insurance to people with disabilities might be reduced private insurance coverage. While this is not central to the topic addressed by this report, employment and access to health insurance, we include a brief discussion of the topic at the end of the report because of its relevance to policies currently being considered for providing access to health insurance for people with disabilities.

A. The Decision to Seek Employment

For persons considering paid employment, it is helpful to distinguish between those who are DI or SSI recipients and those who are not.

The potential loss of public health insurance may well discourage DI and SSI program participants from seeking employment or increasing their employment earnings to a level that would jeopardize their public health insurance. It is this group of individuals that are most often considered when the issue of health insurance access

and employment of people with disabilities is discussed. Expansion of public health insurance that would permit earnings at levels higher than the maximums allowed under DI or SSI would encourage employment and earnings for current DI and SSI recipients as well as encourage exits from these programs.

For disabled non-workers who are not DI or SSI recipients and are not privately insured, public health insurance expansions would likely reduce work incentives. One reason for such individuals to obtain a job is to obtain employer-provided insurance or obtain income to pay for health care directly. The number of non-working disabled persons for whom employment is a realistic route to insurance or health services is probably small, however. For those who are insured (e.g., as a dependent), public health insurance expansions would have little effect on the incentive to work unless the public insurance covered important services that are not covered by private insurers. Public coverage of such additional services would reduce the incentive to work, because in the absence of insurance coverage the individual might view earnings from work as a means to obtain those services.

B. The Decision to Leave Employment

Many workers with new, or progressive impairments have little choice but to leave their jobs. Others have a choice, and health insurance may be critical to that choice. Among these workers, it is helpful to distinguish between those in jobs with employer-provided health insurance and jobs without such insurance.

If the individual has health insurance through his/her employer, the effect of an expansion in public health insurance eligibility for those under the age of 65 will depend on the current availability of insurance after they leave their job. It is important to keep in mind that employer-provided health insurance is a strong work incentive for many workers. Thus, public insurance expansions that provide people with disabilities insurance whether or not they work have the potential to reduce employment of insured workers with disabilities.

Insured workers who leave jobs may obtain coverage immediately in several ways: through paying premiums to continue employer coverage for up to 18 months (COBRA continuation coverage); through the employer's disability or workers' compensation plan, through retiree health benefits; through a spouse's employer; from the Veterans Administration; and through Medicaid if they meet the SSI means and disability tests or qualify by other means. Medicare can be obtained only after 29 months and only if the worker is DI eligible (there is a five-month DI waiting period plus an additional 24 month waiting period for Medicare). Expansion of eligibility for Medicare (e.g. reducing the waiting period or providing a Medicare buy-in) would presumably have little effect on the decision of an insured worker who could obtain post-job insurance in some other way, but could have a substantial effect if other options are unavailable. Expanding Medicaid eligibility (e.g., through a less strict means test) would have similar effects, except that coverage of certain services by Medicaid might be an

attractive reason to leave work for an individual who would otherwise have to pay for these services out-of-pocket. Public provision of these same services to those who continue employment would presumably reduce this effect, but even so, an important incentive to work would be removed.

The situation is different for disabled workers who are not insured. Faced with high health care costs, some such workers--particularly those with low earnings--may decide to leave work to obtain eligibility for public health insurance via DI and/or SSI. If, instead, the same worker could obtain public health insurance and continue to work, he or she might choose continued employment. Thus, low-earning, uninsured workers with disabilities would be more likely to continue working if they could do so and obtain public health insurance. Some uninsured disabled workers, especially those with very high earnings, might continue employment in order to be able to purchase health care out-of-pocket under the current system, and be induced to leave work if they could obtain public health insurance. The former case is much more prevalent than the latter, however.

III. DIRECT EVIDENCE OF THE RELATIONSHIP AMONG HEALTH INSURANCE, PROGRAM PARTICIPATION, AND EMPLOYMENT OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

In this section, we present the findings of studies that have examined the relationship between access to Medicare and Medicaid and program/labor force participation of persons with disabilities. For Medicaid, the studies we review have examined how the value of Medicaid benefits affect SSI participation, and the impact of Section 1619 provisions, which extend SSI and Medicaid eligibility for recipients who work, on the employment and work effort of SSI recipients. For Medicare, the studies we review estimate the potential impact of eliminating the two-year waiting period for Medicare on medical care costs to DI beneficiaries, and examine the effect of extending the period of Medicare eligibility and allowing Medicare buy-in on the work effort of DI beneficiaries. In the final subsection, we present information on the importance of health insurance obtained through self-reports from persons with disabilities.

With respect to Medicaid, we have identified only two studies that examine the relationship between Medicaid and SSI participation. One (Yelowitz, forthcoming) finds a very strong positive relationship between the value of Medicaid benefits and SSI participation, while the other (Lewin-VHI, 1995a) finds no effect. There have been a few studies of the effectiveness of the Section 1619 work incentive provisions. The studies generally conclude that the provisions seem to have a very negligible impact on the work effort of SSI recipients.

With respect to Medicare, the one study that estimated the effects of eliminating the two-year waiting period only focused on the medical care costs of the DI beneficiaries that would be affected by such a policy. We have not found any studies that attempt to estimate the impact on DI program participation. Regarding the DI work incentive provisions that extend Medicare eligibility and allow buy-in for beneficiaries who work, the studies we reviewed indicate that the presence of these work incentives do not have a large effect on the work effort of DI beneficiaries. The studies base their conclusions on evidence from self-reported reasons why beneficiaries return to work, and the finding that knowledge of the work incentive provisions was significantly and negatively associated with return to work among DI beneficiaries.

The information we have found regarding self-reported health insurance status at the time of disability application and self-reported reasons for not working among groups of persons with specific impairments indicate that a large proportion of persons who file for Social Security disability benefits do not have any health insurance, that those without insurance are more likely to be denied disability benefits, and that a sizable proportion of DI and SSI beneficiaries with specific disabilities report the fear of losing their health insurance as a reason for not working.

A. Medicaid

1. The Impact of Increases in the Value of Medicaid Benefits on SSI Participation

Since our earlier report, one study commissioned by ASPE and SSA under a related contract to Lewin has found a significant and strong relationship between the average Medicaid expenditures for disabled Medicaid enrollees in a state and SSI participation in the state using Current Population Survey data for multiple years during a period of rapid Medicaid expenditure growth (Yelowitz, forthcoming). Another study using SSA administrative data estimated a pooled time series model with state-level data for the same period, using the same Medicaid expenditure variable, but found no significant impact on SSI determinations or awards (Lewin-VHI, 1995a).¹ The inconsistent findings have not been reconciled. A criticism that applies to both studies is that the value of Medicaid benefits to the typical disabled person may be unrelated to Medicaid expenditures; it is the access to insurance that matters, not payment rates to Medicaid providers (although the two may be related). Due to data limitations, neither study looks explicitly at how eligibility changes affect employment or program participation; even if we accepted Yelowitz's findings at face value, it would be problematic to use those results to infer the impact of eligibility expansions on employment or program participation.

Yelowitz (forthcoming) examines the relationship between the average Medicaid expenditures for disabled Medicaid enrollees in a state and SSI participation of working-age adults in the state using Current Population Survey data for 1987-1992, years of rapid Medicaid expenditure growth.² Yelowitz pools individual data for the sixyear period and uses a regression model, with SSI participation as the dependent variable, to control for the following: various characteristics of the individual; all statelevel factors that are fixed over time (state "fixed effects"); factors that vary across years but are the same across states "year effects," such as nationwide changes in the SSI program itself; and some state-level variables that vary across years, such as the unemployment rate. His key explanatory variable is average Medicaid expenditures for disabled (but not blind) enrollees in the state. Because he uses state fixed effects, the estimated Medicaid coefficient reflects the relationship between changes in Medicaid expenditures and changes in SSI participation, holding constant changes in the other explanatory variables.

¹ Both studies used a common instrument to address the "endogeneity problem" -- average expenditures may vary as a result of changes in the number of beneficiaries if marginal beneficiaries use more or less health care than average beneficiaries.

² This study was commissioned by ASPE and SSA under an earlier contract to Lewin. The data are from the March CPS surveys for 1988 to 1993, and refer to the previous year.

One important methodological problem with the regression specification is that the Medicaid expenditure variable may be "endogenous," that is, changes in the Medicaid explanatory variable may not be independent of changes in SSI participation (the dependent variable), but rather, partly determined by it. Yelowitz argues, specifically, that there may be a negative relationship between changes in average Medicaid expenditures and SSI growth because marginal disabled SSI recipients are likely to use fewer health services than the average recipient. If so, the estimated regression coefficient would understate the hypothesized positive effect of growth in the value of Medicaid on SSI participation. Yelowitz uses instrumental variables--average Medicaid expenditures for the blind and for the elderly--to correct for this.³

Yelowitz finds strong positive coefficients on the Medicaid expenditure variable, especially when the instrumental variables are used. If interpreted literally, the instrumental variable estimates imply that the Medicaid expenditure growth accounts for 25 percent of the growth in SSI participation by working-age adults over this period. There are two important reasons for being extremely cautious in accepting this interpretation, however.

First, the value of Medicaid benefits to the typical disabled person may be unrelated to Medicaid expenditures; it is the access to insurance that matters, not payment rates to Medicaid providers.⁴ Even after controlling for the compositional changes in Medicaid disability enrollees via the instrumental variables technique, changes in spending over this period may reflect many other things that have little relation to access--including changes in the policy environment that are not captured in the other state variables. As Yelowitz points out, research that examines Medicaid eligibility expansions for people with disabilities that are not linked to SSI expansions would be much more convincing, but opportunities to examine such expansions are very limited. In two studies that we will examine later, Yelowitz uses eligibility expansions to examine the impacts of Medicaid on SSI participation by the elderly and both AFDC and labor force participation of unmarried mothers. Interestingly, his results for that population are much stronger than results obtained by others who have used average Medicaid expenditures for AFDC families as the explanatory variable.

Second, the estimated coefficients on his state-level variables differ substantially in character from those obtained in a study that we conducted, using a related methodology and identical state variables over the five years from 1988 to 1992 (Lewin-VHI, 1995a). In this study we used data on all fifty states plus the District of Columbia to examine the relationship between SSI participation of working-age adults and a set of state explanatory variables. The main difference in the methodology is that we used aggregate state data on SSI applications and allowances for the dependent variables, rather than participation of individuals. That is, we looked at the flow of individuals onto SSI that were generated by changes in state-level explanatory variables, instead of the

³ An instrumental variable is a variable that is minimally correlated with the disturbances of the equation (the error terms) and is presumably highly correlated with the explanatory variables in the equation (in this case, the average Medicaid expenditure variable).

⁴ Wolfe (forthcoming) also makes this point.

effect on the stock of beneficiaries. We would expect the flow to be much more sensitive to such variables than the stock, which is largely determined by the number of allowances and terminations in prior years. One other important difference is that we could not control for many individual-specific characteristics, because we did not have individual data, but we were able to control for changes in the age composition of the population and a few other population characteristics (e.g., immigration and the incidence of AIDS/HIV) through other means. The main explanatory variables we used were identical to those used by Yelowitz.

The coefficients we obtained for two of the state variables were markedly different than those reported by Yelowitz. First, we did not find a significant positive coefficient on the Medicaid expenditure variable, whether or not we used an instrumental variable. Second, we found very strong positive coefficients on a variable measuring cuts in general assistance (GA) programs over this period, while Yelowitz found a negative, and significant coefficient on the same variable. Seven states and the District of Columbia significantly cut their GA programs over the period, including Michigan, which essentially eliminated its program. Research conducted by **Bound et al. (forthcoming)** using SSA administrative data linked to GA data from Michigan, strongly confirmed that the termination of Michigan's program accounted for a very large share of SSI growth in that state over the period, and qualitative evidence obtained from other states also confirms our finding. This additional evidence gives us confidence that our own GA coefficient is capturing a real effect, and leaves us puzzled over the differences in the findings for both this variable and the Medicaid variable.

In summary, while Yelowitz's findings are intriguing and plausible, they need to be treated with substantial skepticism. Similarly, it would be a mistake to construe the absence of a significant effect in our own work as evidence that no effect exists; it may just reflect the limitations of the methodology--in particular the use of average Medicaid expenditures for people with disabilities as an estimate of the value of Medicaid benefits to those in that population.

2. Utilization of Extended Medicaid Benefits by SSI Recipients under Section 1619b of the Social Security Act

a) Early Research on 1619b

Rocklin and Mattson (1987) provide a discussion of the legislative history of Section 1619 through its permanent enactment in 1987. Section 1619 of the Social Security Act began as a three-year demonstration project authorized by the Social Security Disability Amendments of 1980. Effective on January 1, 1981, Section 1619(a) enabled blind or disabled SSI recipients who had completed the trial work periods and continued to engage in substantial gainful activity (SGA) to receive cash benefits, Medicaid coverage, and other social services available to Section 1611 (regular SSI) recipients. Cash payments under 1619(a) were calculated in the same manner as regular SSI payments. In addition, Section 1619(b) enabled working blind or disabled SSI recipients whose earnings precluded them from receiving 1611 or 1619(a) cash payments to retain their eligibility for Medicaid and other social services, so long as they:

- continued to be blind or to have the disabling condition that caused them to be considered disabled;
- would be entitled to cash payments except for their earnings;
- would be seriously inhibited in continuing employment if they lost eligibility for Medicaid and social services; and
- did not have earnings above a "threshold amount" that would allow them to provide a reasonable equivalent of the SSI payments, Medicaid , and social services they would have in the absence of earnings.⁵

As noted in Rocklin and Mattson (1987), the purpose of the demonstration project was to see if it was possible to assure SSI disability recipients that working would not disadvantage them without incurring too great a cost on the SSI or Medicaid programs.

Congress failed to reauthorize Section 1619 before it expired on December 31, 1983. Upon the urging of both House and Senate leaders, however, the Secretary of Health and Human Services authorized the temporary continuation of Section 1619 for individuals who were eligible for the provision in December 1983. Public Law 98-460, signed on October 9, 1984, reauthorized Section 1619 through June 30, 1987.

Even before the reauthorization of Section 1619, advocacy groups sought to make Section 1619 a permanent program. They believed that the temporary nature of the Section 1619 programs was actually deterring attempts to work by SSI recipients who feared joining a program whose future was uncertain. After several legislative initiatives in 1985 and 1986, Section 1619 became permanent on November 10, 1986 with the signing of the Employment Opportunities for Disabled Americans Act (Public Law 99-643).

As defined under Public Law 99-643, the current Section 1619 programs has several major differences from the demonstration project. First, in order to account for the potential failure of work attempts and a disabled individual's often erratic ability to work, the current program allows for seamless transitions between regular SSI, section 1619(a), and section 1619(b) eligibility. It also requires SSA to continue an individual's disability status for 12 months after his or her most recent eligibility for regular SSI, section 1619(a), or section 1619(b). However if an individual recovers medically, SSA requires the individual to submit a new application and undergo a new disability determination in order to establish a new period of eligibility.⁶ In addition to standard SSI disability reviews, SSA reviews section 1619 cases for medical improvement or the ability to work at SGA level when an SSI recipient becomes eligible for benefits under

⁵ The reference to social services was deleted in 1981 when Title XX, under which social services were provided, became a block grant program to the States.

⁶ Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives (1994), p. 254.

section 1619 or when there are changes in his or her 1619 status; however, such reviews are not to occur more often than once a year.⁷ The current program, unlike the demonstration project, does not require a trial work period. Public Law 99-643 also allows the SSA to include impairment-related work expenses (IRWEs), blind work expenses, a plan to achieve self-support (PASS), publicly funded attendant or personal care, and medical expenses in the determination of whether an individual's income could provide a "reasonable equivalent of benefits." Under the law, SSA must notify blind and disabled SSI recipients of their potential eligibility for benefits under Section 1619 at the time of the initial reward and when a recipient's earnings reach \$200.⁸ Finally the Act assures that disabled individuals living in states that use Medicaid eligibility criteria other than the SSI eligibility standard can maintain their Medicaid eligibility so long as they were eligible for Medicaid in the month before they obtained 1619 eligibility status.⁹

One of the first studies of Section 1619 was conducted by the Department of Health and Human Services (SSA and HCFA) during the demonstration phase of Section 1619. The Congressional mandate for this study required the collection and analysis of data concerning the characteristics of individuals benefiting from Section 1619, the effect of Section 1619 on work effort, and health care utilization by Section 1619 beneficiaries. **SSA (1986)** is an abridged version of the HHS Report to Congress.

The HHS report made use of three main data sources. Analysis of SSI administrative files enabled HHS to review the histories of all Section 1619 participants who had participated at any time between May 1981 and May 1985. HHS also analyzed 1,660 responses to the 1985 SSI Medicaid Recipient Survey (The Survey). The Survey compiled specific demographic data about SSI recipients as well as their attitudes toward disability and employment. Finally, HHS used a HCFA study of Medicaid utilization in 11 states, a study encompassing nearly half of the Section 1619 population, to gauge Medicaid utilization by Section 1619 participants. Based on the analysis of these data sources, the HHS Report to Congress presented the following conclusions:

- While point-in-time Section 1619 participation levels were low, the program had a very high turnover rate. Nearly 55,000 individuals were covered by Section 1619 for some period between May 1981 and May 1985.
- In 1985 Section 1619 participants were, on average, younger than the SSI population at large,: 84 percent of 1619(a) eligibles and 79 percent of 1619(b) eligibles were under the age of 40 while only 39 percent of the overall SSI disabled population was under the age of 40. In addition, they were predominately white males, and the most common disability was mental impairment.

⁷ SSA (1994a), p. 7.

⁸ Rocklin and Mattson (1987), pp. 32-33.

⁹ SSA (1994a), p. 32.

- The Survey showed that average monthly earned income was \$475 for Section 1619(a) participants and \$674 for Section 1619(b) participants, compared to an average of \$112 for all working SSI disabled recipients, and \$1,169 for all working US residents ages 18 to 39.
- The majority of participants were employed in service occupations by private employers. Two-thirds of 1619(a) participants and one-half of 1619(b) participants worked in all twelve months in 1985. In addition, 1619(b) participant were about twice as likely as 1619(a) participants to engage in sheltered work (27 percent versus 15 percent).
- A significant number of 1619 participants had health care coverage from sources other than Medicaid. In 1985, one-third of 1619(b) participants had some private health insurance. Medicaid was the only health care coverage for one-half of 1619(a) and 28 percent of 1619(b) participants. Medicare was also a common source of health care coverage for 1619 participants.
- Analysis of the HCFA study indicated that the Medicaid per capita expenditure rate for the entire disabled SSI population was 2.3 times greater than that for Section 1619 participants.
- The 1985 Survey results suggest that the majority of 1619 participants would not reduce work effort in order to retain 1619 cash payments or Medicaid eligibility.

Based on the last three findings, the study concluded that there was not a strong relationship between health care coverage and work effort, and that the retention of Medicaid eligibility was less of an incentive than was commonly believed. However, it did suggest room for further research and acknowledged that the temporary nature of the 1619 program may have influenced the results of the study.

Andrews, et al. (1988) present the results of the HCFA research included in the Report to Congress cited above. Interestingly, Andrews, et al. (1988) suggest that Section 1619 provides a stronger work incentive than reported in SSA (1986). In addition to the conclusions cited above, the study found that the health care costs represent, on average, 13 percent of a Section 1619 enrollee's earnings. Citing the SSA (1986) finding that only 2.8 percent of Section 1619 enrollees were able to earn enough income to obtain Medicaid equivalent coverage, Andrews, et al. (1988) conclude that Section 1619 appeared to provide a significant benefit to people with disabilities who attempt to work.

Sizable changes in Section 1619 enrollment shortly after the effective date of the Employment Opportunities for Disabled Americans Act suggest that the initial temporary nature of Section 1619 did lessen its effectiveness as a work incentive. Between June 1987, the month before Section 1619 effectively became permanent, and December 1987, 1619(a) enrollment increased ten times from 1,436 to 14,559 participants. Section

1619(b) participation also increased during the same period, albeit less dramatically, from 12,470 to 15,632.¹⁰

In January 1990, the definition of SGA increased from \$300 per month to \$500 per month causing many Section 1619(a) participants to revert to regular SSI eligibility. Primarily as a result of this change and the accompanying reclassification of SSI recipients, Section 1619(a) enrollment decreased from 25,655 in December 1989 to 13,994 in December 1990.¹¹

b) The Effect of 1619(a) and (b) on an SSI Recipient's Budget Constraint

In this section, we present an example to illustrate the effect of Section 1619 provisions on an SSI recipient's eligibility status for SSI benefits and Medicaid. In *Exhibit 1* and *Exhibit 2* we present a simplified example of the relationship between earnings and SSI and Medicaid benefits for a non-married individual living in Pennsylvania in 1996.¹² As shown in the exhibits, a disabled SSI recipient with no earnings would receive \$497 in SSI cash payments (\$470 federal payment and \$27.40 state supplement) and, on average, \$509 in in-kind Medicaid benefits, for a total of \$1,006 in net benefits per month. The SSI benefit calculation disregards an individual's first \$85 of earned income per month; thus, an individual may earn up to \$85 without experiencing a decline in net benefits. Beyond \$85 per month in earnings, the SSI recipient loses 50 cents for each additional dollar earned. Once a recipient earns \$500 per month, the level of substantial gainful activity (SGA), he or she is no longer eligible for regular SSI, and must transfer to section 1619(a) to maintain SSI eligibility. Section 1619(a) eligibility allows individuals to increase their monthly earnings above SGA without completely losing their SSI cash payments. Under section 1619(a), an individual continues to loose 50 cents in benefits for each additional dollar earnings until his or her benefits have fallen to zero.

In 1996, a disabled SSI recipient living in Pennsylvania would lose all SSI cash benefits and transfer to section 1619(b) eligibility once his or her monthly earnings reached \$1,080, the state's SSI "breakeven point." Section 1619(b) eligibility allows individuals to increase their monthly earnings above a state's "breakeven point" without losing their Medicaid benefit. Eligibility under section 1619(b) continues until an individual's monthly earnings reach a "threshold amount," beyond which a person loses Medicaid eligibility. For each state, this amount is equal to the state's SSI "breakeven point" plus the average Medicaid expenditures for disabled SSI cash recipients in the state. Pennsylvania's threshold amount was \$1,589 in 1996.

¹⁰ Enrollment data obtained from Clark Pickett, Office of Research, Evaluation, and Statistics, Social Security Administration.

¹¹ Enrollment data obtained from Clark Pickett, Office of Research, Evaluation, and Statistics, Social Security Administration.

¹² A complete illustration of the relationship between earnings and program benefits would also account for the roles of federal, state, and local income taxes, FICA, Food Stamp benefits, and EITC.

EXHIBIT 1. Earnings and SSI and Medicaid Benefits for a Non-Married SSI Recipient Living in Pennsylvania in 1996						
ZeroSSISGASSISectionEarningsDisregardLevelPointThreshold						
Earnings	\$0	\$85	\$500	\$1,080	\$1,589	
SSI	\$497	\$497	\$290	\$0	\$0	
SSI plus Medicaid	\$1,006	\$1,006	\$799	\$509	\$0	



c) Recent Statistics on 1619

Since the permanent authorization of Section 1619, total enrollment in both 1619(a) and 1619(b) programs has increased substantially. In December 1996, Section 1619(a) enrollment stood at 31,085 people while 51,905 individuals were eligible for Medicaid under Section 1619(b) provisions. However measured as a percentage of total SSI blind and disabled recipients, participation in Section 1619 programs has only increased from 1 percent of all SSI recipients in December 1987 to approximately 1.6 percent in December 1996.

GAO (1996) notes that a survey of 1,200 leaders of major disability constituencies conducted by the President's Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities identified the fear of losing Medicaid/Medicare as the greatest barrier to the employment of people on SSI or DI. Similarly, a 1995 OIG/HHS cited in GAO(1996) found that 79 percent of SSI applicants rated continued medical coverage as a major work incentive. While recognizing the work incentive created by Section 1619, GAO (1996) suggests the effectiveness of this incentive is limited. GAO (1996) argues that SSI beneficiaries who lose their Medicaid benefits because their earnings exceed the threshold amount are apt to be uninsurable or face prohibitively high insurance premiums. Thus, SSI beneficiaries who can work have strong incentive to work up to the section 1619(b) threshold, but much weaker, if any, incentive to work beyond the threshold. In addition, a former beneficiary might be subject to waiting periods or exclusion for preexisting conditions.

B. Medicare

1. The Two-year Medicare Waiting Period for DI Beneficiaries

Under current law, Social Security Disability Insurance beneficiaries must wait two years to obtain Medicare eligibility. The purposes of this waiting period are to restrict costs to the Medicare program during a time when workers often have health insurance from other sources and to ensure that only those persons whose disabilities are severe and long lasting receive coverage. Policymakers have frequently debated the reduction or elimination of the waiting period as a way to improve access to health care and to ease the burden of medical costs.

Analysis of the New Beneficiary Survey presented in **Muller (1989)** indicates that roughly 27 percent of disabled-worker beneficiaries in 1982 lacked health insurance coverage in the last 6 months of their waiting period. Some policymakers suggest that the reduction or elimination of the waiting period would improve a DI beneficiary's chances for medical recovery by increasing access to medical services shortly after the onset of the disability. This argument contends that if early and improved access to health care enables DI beneficiaries to return to work, the long-run savings in DI and Medicare payments might offset the initial increase in Medicare costs associated with the reduction or elimination of the waiting period.

Based on the analysis of SSA and HCFA data, **Bye and Riley (1989)** find that the elimination of the two-year waiting period for a 1972 cohort of new beneficiaries would have increased the costs for the cohort by 45 percent over the first 10 years. In addition, they find that nearly 30 percent of the additional cost is attributable to those who died within the first two years of DI eligibility. They estimate that only 3 percent of the increase in cost would be for beneficiaries who eventually recover. Bye and Riley (1989) conclude that the reduction or elimination of the waiting period is "very unlikely to be cost-beneficial in enabling beneficiaries to return to work" since the majority of the increased costs would be spent on those beneficiaries least likely to return to work. The study only examined the medical care costs of beneficiaries, and did not consider the extent to which labor force exits and DI claim allowances would be affected.

2. The Extended Period of Eligibility

The 1980 Social Security Disability Amendments created an extended period of eligibility (EPE) for cash benefits and Medicare coverage. The EPE protects DI beneficiaries who return to work by providing cash benefits during any month in the EPE in which earnings fall below the substantial gainful activity level. Initially, the EPE lasted

15 months beyond the completion of a beneficiary's nine-month trial work period. Subsequently, OBRA-1987 extended the EPE to 36 months. In addition to enacting the EPE, the 1980 Amendments instituted extended Medicare eligibility for working DI beneficiaries an additional 24 months beyond their EPE. OBRA-1987 extended the EPE to 36 months without changing the Medicare extension. Thus, the current extended period of Medicare eligibility is three months beyond the EPE. OBRA-1989 further increased access to Medicare by allowing individuals who continue to have a disability but have lost DI eligibility due to an SGA termination to "buy into" the Medicare program after their extended Medicare benefits expire. The buy-in's purpose is to provide access to health insurance to former DI beneficiaries who are unable to obtain other health insurance due to pre-existing conditions. In so doing, the buy-in seeks to encourage employment efforts of former beneficiaries who might otherwise lose access to health care if they work (Muller, 1992).

In a 1995 HHS Office of the Inspector General (OIG) survey of DI applicants cited in a recent GAO study (GAO, 1996), 75 percent of the applicants rated the continuation of health care coverage as very important to encouraging work. Recent research presented in **Hennessey and Muller (1994)** and **Hennessey and Muller (1995)** suggests, however, that extended Medicare eligibility and the Medicare buy-in option only marginally alleviate the fear of losing medical coverage. Hennessey and Muller (1994) report that only 3.7 percent of beneficiaries in the New Beneficiary Follow-up Survey who returned to work cite extended Medicare eligibility and the Medicare buy-in option as one of several factors influencing their decision to return to work. Furthermore, no beneficiaries cite these programs as the main reason for returning to work. In contrast, 81.4 percent and 57.6 percent of beneficiaries respectively report financial need and desire to work as a reason for returning to work. Similarly, 57.7 percent and 17.2 percent respectively report financial need and desire to work.

Hennessey and Muller (1994) also note that knowledge of extended Medicare coverage by beneficiaries at the time of award is quite low. Of those beneficiaries surveyed, only 10.5 percent of beneficiaries reported knowing of extended coverage at the time of award. Furthermore, less than 1 percent of beneficiaries said knowledge of the extended coverage influenced their decision to pursue employment.

Hennessey and Muller (1995) model the effect of knowledge of the three major DI work incentives (trial work period, EPE, and extended Medicare coverage) on the decision to return to work. Using a Cox proportional hazards model, Hennessey and Muller (1995) obtain a coefficient for the knowledge of extended Medicare that is negative and statistically significant. This suggests that knowledge of extended Medicare coverage actually reduces effort to pursue employment. While this result is unexpected and counterintuitive, Hennessey and Muller (1995) postulate that beneficiaries might see the combination of the EPE, where the person receives no cash benefits, and the extended Medicare coverage as events leading to termination from the program. At the end of these periods, an individual must be self-supporting and covered by some form of health insurance. For some beneficiaries, the Medicare buy-in option may alleviate the concern of being refused health insurance. However, the monthly premiums, which exceeded \$300 for full coverage in 1996, would discourage work efforts among beneficiaries with relatively low monthly earnings (i.e., just above the SGA amount of \$500). The fear of future financial insecurity created by the potential loss of the EPE/Medicare safety net may override any work incentive these benefits might create.

C. Self-Reports of the Importance of Health Insurance to Employment and Program Participation

There is a growing body of anecdotal and survey evidence that people with disabilities identify loss of health insurance as an important reason for not working, or not working enough to exit SSI/DI. Policymakers and analysts are reluctant to rely on this type of evidence because people's statements about the factors behind their own behavior are often inconsistent with their actual responses to changes in those factors. Further, people with disabilities often report multiple reasons for limiting employment, and removal of one of the reported deterrents will not remove the others.

On two days in both 1992 and 1994, the Social Security Administration conducted field surveys of DI and SSI applicants. These surveys collected information on applicants' sex, age, reasons for filing for benefits, sources of referral, prior filing history, and current or recent participation in other government programs (SSA, 1994b). In both 1992 and 1994, slightly less than 60 percent had health insurance coverage at the time they filed for DI and/or SSI benefits. Overall, Medicaid accounted for 42 percent of this coverage in 1994, 18 percent among SSI applicants and 63 percent among DI applicants. The 1994 survey revealed significant differences in both DI and SSI allowance rates for applicants with health insurance at the time of application, versus those without coverage. Among DI applicants, the allowance rate for applicants with health insurance was 41 percent, compared to 30 percent for those without coverage. Similarly, the allowance rate for SSI applicants with health insurance coverage was 38 percent, versus 29 percent for applicants without coverage. A possible explanation for these differences is that those applicants without health insurance are generally less impaired than those with coverage, and that the primary impetus behind their application for disability benefits is access to the associated health care coverage.

Other studies have also found that a sizeable number of SSDI and SSI recipients rate the fear of losing medical insurance as a reason for not working. For example, a survey of 359 chronic dialysis patients reported that 79 percent of nonemployed and 78 percent of employed respondents viewed the loss of health insurance as a barrier to employment.¹³ Similarly, 54 percent of the unemployed respondents in a 1993 study of individuals with severe physical disabilities in Dane County, Wisconsin cited the potential loss of Medicaid or Medicare as a reason why they had chosen not to work

¹³ Study of End-Stage-Renal-Disease (ESRD) Dialysis Patients. Medical Education Institute, University Research Park, Madison, WI, and Department of Pediatric Nephrology, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI.

reported that.¹⁴ Finally, a recent study of the Vocational Rehabilitation Service Program revealed that 42 percent of survey respondents receiving SSDI or SSI cited fear of losing medical insurance as a reason for not taking a job or working regularly.¹⁵

These findings are somewhat contradictory to the findings of Hennessey and Muller (1994) reported previously. In their study of DI beneficiaries in the New Beneficiary Follow-up Survey, only 3.7 percent of those who returned to work cited extended Medicare eligibility and the Medicare buy-in option as one of several factors influencing their decision to return to work. Most beneficiaries reported financial need and desire to work as their reasons for returning to work.

¹⁴ Employment Experiences of Working-Age Adults with Severe Physical Disabilities in Dane County, Wisconsin. Final Report for Employment Resources, Inc., June 1993.

¹⁵ Personal Correspondence with Rebecca Wayward at Research Triangle Institute, 1997.

IV. EVIDENCE OF THE RELATIONSHIPS AMONG EMPLOYMENT, PROGRAM PARTICIPATION, AND ACCESS TO HEALTH INSURANCE FOR OTHER POPULATIONS

In this section, we review studies that have examined the effect of access to health insurance on the work effort of groups other than persons with disabilities. The studies we review examine the effect of Medicaid provision on the participation of unmarried mothers in the AFDC program; the provision of health insurance through continuation of coverage laws (COBRA) and through retiree health benefits on the work effort of older workers; and the effect of a Medicare beneficiary buy-in program for Medicaid on SSI participation among the elderly.

The more recent studies of Medicaid and AFDC participation among single mothers generally find a significant positive relationship between the value of Medicaid benefits and AFDC program participation. Earlier studies did not find a significant relationship, but this is mainly due to differences in the methodologies used to estimate the effects. The older studies rely on a very aggregate measure of the value of Medicaid. The more recent studies either use a measure that more accurately reflects the value of Medicaid to individuals based on their characteristics, or rely on the "natural experiment" offered by recent expansions in Medicaid that allow benefits to persons not participating in AFDC. Both of these approaches are superior to those used in the earlier studies.

There is a large body of literature that examines the labor force participation and retirement behavior of older workers. A fair number of these studies have addressed the issue of health insurance and its role in the retirement decisions of older workers. Most of the studies we reviewed have found a significant and positive effect of access to post-retirement health insurance on labor force exits among older men. As with the literature on the effects of Medicaid on the labor force and AFDC participation of single mothers, the studies that are able to more precisely measure the value of health insurance benefits to older workers tend to find a stronger relationship between access to health insurance and retirement behavior.

The study that examined the effect of the Medicare beneficiary buy-in program for Medicaid, the Qualified Medicare Beneficiary Program (QMB), on SSI participation of the elderly found that allowing some Medicare beneficiaries to qualify for Medicaid benefits without having to be eligible for SSI had a strong, negative effect on SSI participation among the elderly. The estimates imply that the savings in terms of reduced SSI benefit outlays virtually pay for the additional Medicaid expenditures of QMB participants.

A. Unmarried Mothers

In an earlier report to ASPE (Lewin, 1995b), we reviewed findings from research on the effects of Medicaid on program participation and employment of unmarried mothers. **Gruber and Kubik (1995)** independently reviewed the same body of literature, and reached essentially the same conclusions. The following discussion draws on both reviews.

There are more studies on this issue for unmarried mothers than there are for people with disabilities, although the number is still small. The authors of these studies have used a wide range of empirical methods and obtained a wide range of results. Although all the studies reviewed have potential flaws, we find that the methodology used by one study is much more compelling than that used by the others. This study, **(Yelowitz, 1995)**, used a natural experiment offered by recent expansions in Medicaid coverage for children--similar in spirit to the approached used in Yelowitz (1996) to examine the impact of the Medicare buy-in program on SSI participation of the elderly.

Before 1987, almost all unmarried mothers with children had to be eligible for AFDC to obtain Medicaid. Legislation during the 1980s consistently required states to extend Medicaid coverage to pregnant women and young children in low income families. With these expansions, many unmarried mothers could obtain income in excess of AFDC limits and still retain their Medicaid benefits.

The natural experiment nature of the Medicaid expansions permitted Yelowitz to estimate their effects on the labor force and AFDC program participation decisions of single women for a sample of single mothers age 18 to 55 drawn from the March CPS, from 1989 through 1992. His treatment group is mothers who were covered by the expansions either because they were pregnant or because their children were young enough to qualify. His control group is similar mothers not covered by the expansions because they were not pregnant and their children were too old to gualify, but not too old for AFDC coverage. He also controls for observable differences between these groups such as age, education, family size and composition, and state of residence. His estimates are based on comparisons of changes in employment and AFDC participation of these two groups over the period of the expansions. A critical, but apparently reasonable, assumption is that the effects of changes in other factors on the program and employment outcomes for these groups were the same over this period. Yelowitz is able to use variation in the timing and nature of the expansions across states to examine the robustness of the findings, and the results of doing so provides support for the soundness of this approach.

Yelowitz estimates that a Medicaid expansion that increases the maximum income of recipients by 25 percent of the poverty line increases the labor force participation rate of single women subject to the expansion by 3.3 percent, and decreases the proportion receiving AFDC by 4.6 percent. Both estimates were highly significant and robust to many changes in specification and choice of sample.

Comparing these results to results obtained from other methodologies illustrates the promise of applying a similar approach to the same issue for people with disabilities if adequate natural experiments can be found, and also illustrates the limitations of alternative approaches. Two early studies, (Blank, 1988, and Winkler, 1990) use statespecific average Medicaid expenditures for AFDC families as a measure of the value of these services--as Yelowitz (1996) does for disabled SSI recipients.¹⁶ Both estimate models of program or labor force participation for unmarried mothers using survey data for a single year, and controlling for observable characteristics of the mother and her children. Neither study finds substantial effects, and almost all estimates are statistically insignificant. To accept these findings at face value, however, one needs to accept the proposition that cross-state variation in average Medicaid expenditure is a good proxy for cross-state variation in the value of Medicaid benefits for an individual with given characteristics. The relationship between the quality of services provided across states and what Medicaid pays for those services is likely very weak because of the great variation in Medicaid payment rules. Variation in the composition of AFDC families also has an impact on average expenditures, but this is irrelevant to a given family's valuation of Medicaid benefits. Finally, variation in Medicaid benefits likely reflects variation in other aspects of the policy environment that may have an impact on AFDC or labor force participation.

Three other studies take a different approach to valuing Medicaid benefits, and obtain findings that are substantially stronger than those obtained by Yelowitz (1995): **Ellwood and Adams (1990)**, **Moffitt and Wolfe (1992)**, and **Wolfe and Hill (1995)**. In each case, the authors use family characteristics, including health problems and potential access to private health insurance coverage, to estimate expected health expenditures if the family is not Medicaid eligible.

A likely reason for the relatively strong findings is that variation in the estimated Medicaid values used in these studies captures, in part, variation in health status itself. If so, the estimates are biased upward because they are partly picking up the direct impact of health status on employment and program participation. The first two of these studies are not able to control for health status at all. Wolfe and Hill make some progress by incorporating health measures to capture the effect of the mother's selfreported health status, mother's functional limitations, and child disabilities on the labor supply decisions of single mothers, but it seems likely that the expected expenditure variable reflects variation in health status even after controlling for these measures of health.

¹⁶ While the measure of Medicaid's value used in these two studies is analogous to that used by Yelowitz (1995), Yelowitz' methodology differs in two important respects -- use of multiple years of data to control for state fixed effects, and use of an instrumental variable to control for possible endogeneity of the Medicaid expenditure variable.

B. Older Workers

1. Continuation of Employer Insurance

Continuation-of-coverage laws mandate that employers providing group healthinsurance plans to their employees offer terminating employees and their families the option to continue their insurance through the employer's plan by paying the premiums themselves. These mandates effectively permit former workers, particularly older workers, to purchase private health insurance at rates well below rates they would have to pay in the market for individual coverage.¹⁷ Under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1986 (COBRA-86), companies offering group health insurance are required to extend coverage to terminating employees for 18 months. Prior to COBRA-86, however, more than twenty states enacted their own continuation-of-coverage laws.

Gruber and Madrian (1994) consider the introduction of continuation-ofcoverage mandates in a number of states between 1974 and 1984. The time of extended coverage varied across the states studied. Using samples of 55 to 64 year old men drawn from the 1980 to 1990 March Current Population Surveys (CPS) and the 1984 to 1987 panels of the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP), the authors estimate that one year of mandated continuation benefits increases retirement rates by 30 percent. The estimate appears to be uniform at all ages in the 55 to 64 age group. While not analyzing the issue directly, the findings of Gruber and Madrian (1994) strongly support the inference that the provision of public insurance to non-workers would reduce the labor supply of older workers. Because the prevalence of disabilities is high among older workers, we would also expect such a coverage extension to increase DI applications and, to a lesser extent, allowances. The results are also consistent with the hypothesis that eliminating the two-year Medicare waiting period for DI beneficiaries would increase applications and allowances.

2. Employer-Provided Retiree Health Insurance

According to a survey conducted by the Health Insurance Association of America (HIAA), approximately 35 percent of all workers in 1989 worked for firms that offered retiree health benefits (Karoly and Rogowski, 1994). Similarly, a 1995 US Department of Labor study reports that approximately 30 percent of retirees had health insurance from a previous employer in 1994 (Department of Labor 1995). In recent years, several studies have examined the impact of employer-provided retiree health insurance availability on the decision to retire.

¹⁷ Many older workers under the age of 65 retire from the labor force. If their employer does not provide retiree health insurance coverage, these workers would have to purchase health insurance privately if they retire prior to age 65 and wish to be covered by health insurance. Premiums for these private policies are much higher than the cost of purchasing coverage through a former employer for two reasons: (1) the mandates typically require employers to sell insurance at the average cost (plus two percent) of covering all workers -- private plans typically are both age-adjusted and have pre-existing condition and other medical underwriting clauses that substantially increase their costs; and (2) administrative loads on individual policies are much higher than on employer-provided, group insurance.

Gustman and Steinmeier (1994) use data from the 1969-1979 Retirement History Study (RHS), the 1977 National Medical Care Expenditure Survey (NMES), the 1983-86 Survey of Consumer Finances, and the 1988 CPS to estimate the impact of employer-provided health benefits on retirement. The authors utilize a life cycle model to estimate the combination of work and retirement that maximizes a workers lifetime utility. A comparison of the effect of retiree health insurance to that of health insurance for active workers reveals that retiree health insurance has a larger impact on the retirement decision. Health insurance for active workers has an effect on retirement comparable to a 6 percent increase in wage, a rather small increase relative to total compensation. When combined with the opposing effects from retiree health insurance before and after the age of eligibility, the overall effect of health insurance for active workers on the average retirement age appears to be modest. Although larger than the effect of health insurance for active workers, the effect of retiree health insurance remains small. Gustman and Steinmeier (1994) estimate that retiree health insurance delays retirement by 1.3 months if valued at the employer's cost, or 3.9 months if valued at the cost of purchase by an individual. The overall effect of retiree health benefits is to delay retirement until the age of eligibility for retiree health benefits, and then afterward, increase the likelihood of retirement.

Karoly and Rogowski (1994) find a much stronger effect for retiree health benefits than Gustman and Steinmeier (1994). Karoly and Rogowski (1994) utilize the 1984, 1986, and 1988 panels of the SIPP to estimate the effect of access to postretirement health insurance on the early retirement decision of men. Using probit models of the retirement decision, the authors find that employer-provided retiree health benefits increase the probability of retiring by eight percentage points for men between the ages of 55 and 62. In percentage terms, this increase is 50 percent above the baseline probability of retiring. The authors also find that, prior to retirement, access to insurance coverage other than that offered by an employer increases the likelihood of early retirement. As noted by the authors, a drawback of this analysis is that the static model used in this study has limited use in discerning the factors that affect retirement, many of which vary through time.

Lumsdaine, Stock, and Wise (1996) attempt to determine the cause of the high age-65 retirement rate. In so doing, they explore the role that access to health insurance coverage plays in this phenomenon. The authors analyze six data sets: three from employment records of large Fortune 500 companies; the 1987 NMES; the 1984 SIPP with the Education and Work History Supplement (SIPP-EWH); and the 1984, 1985, and 1986 waves of the SIPP with the Characteristics of Job from Which Retired Supplement (SIPP-CJR). All six data sets reveal a spike in the retirement rate at age 65. Analyses of the three national data sets fail to show a significant difference between the retirement rates at age 65 for those with employer-provided retiree health insurance and those without such insurance. Lumsdaine, Stock, and Wise (1996), therefore, conclude that the high age-65 retirement rate is not a consequence of Medicare eligibility. They cite the fact that firms with the most generous retiree health insurance benefits also experience a high age-65 retirement rate as further support for this

conclusion. Their inability to find any demographic attributes that would influence this spike in retirement rates leads the authors to attribute the high age-65 retirement rate to custom or accepted practice. A common criticism of Lumsdaine, Stock, and Wise (1996) is that their conclusion relies heavily on one firm and that to generalize to the entire "retirement-age" population is inappropriate.

Rust and Phelan (forthcoming) provide perhaps the most intricate and comprehensive analysis of the retirement decision to date. Using data from the 1969-1979 RHS, the authors utilize a dynamic programming model, accounting for the sequential nature of the retirement process, and individual uncertainty about future mortality, marital and health status, employment, income, and health expenditures. Rust and Phelan are critical of Gustman and Steinmeier (1993) and Lumsdaine, Stock, and Wise (1993) and their conclusion that Medicare has no significant impact on the labor supply of older men. They argue that both studies substantially underestimated the value of Medicare coverage. The two earlier studies add the expected value of Medicare reimbursements and employer contributions for retiree health insurance to an individual's monthly pension and Social Security retirement benefit. During the period of study, both Medicare reimbursements and employer contributions for retiree health insurance amounted, on average, to less than \$1,000 each. Taken in the context of total income, these are small additions. Rust and Phelan point out that the distribution of health care expenditures is skewed to the right with a long tail illustrating the low risk of catastrophic health care expenditures. They argue: "If individuals are sufficiently risk averse, the certainty equivalent value of Medicare coverage will be substantially greater than the expected value of Medicare reimbursements and retiree health insurance premiums." To account for this risk aversion, Rust and Phelan explicitly model the distribution of health care risks in their analysis.

Rust and Phelan conclude that unequal access to private health insurance is key to the retirement peak at age 65 and why some individuals apply for Social Security at 62 and others wait until they qualify for Medicare at age 65. Individuals who do not have access to retiree health insurance place a very high value on the "Medicare option" and are twice as likely to apply for Social Security at age 65 than at age 62. Individuals who do have retiree health insurance are more than four times as likely to apply at age 62 than at age 65. Overall, Rust and Phelan find that individuals who are unhealthy, single, have lower average wages, are Medicaid recipients, have retiree health insurance, or have no public or private health insurance are significantly more apt to apply for Social Security early retirement benefits at age 62. Similarly, individuals who are healthy, married, have higher average wages, and those who have employer health insurance but no access to retiree health insurance, are more likely to continue working past age 62 and apply for benefits at age 65.

Using data from the more recent Health and Retirement Survey (HRS), **Blau and Gilleskie (1997)** estimate the effect of employer-provided retiree health insurance (EPRHI) on the rates at which men aged 51-62 enter and exit the labor force. The HRS provides more detailed and precise measures of retiree health insurance than data sources used in most previous studies. Blau and Gilleskie conclude that access to

EPRHI, on average, increases the employment exit rate by two percentage points per year if the individual and the firm share the cost of insurance coverage. If the firm pays the entire cost, the exit rate, on average, increases by six percentage points. At age 61, the presence of EPRHI has its maximum effect, increasing the exit rate by 11 percentage points. Similarly, access to EPRHI increases the rate of labor force entry by three percentage points if the firm pays the entire cost. If the individual pays the entire cost of insurance, however, the rate of entry actually falls slightly. The impact of EPRHI on employment decisions estimated by Blau and Gilleskie (1997) is greater than the effects found in other studies. The more accurate and detailed health insurance measures found in the HRS appear to be responsible for at least part of the larger estimated impact.

Karoly and Rogowski (1996) summarize many of the studies discussed above and discuss the impact of proposed health insurance reform that would make health insurance more accessible to early retirees. Based on the recent economic literature, Karoly and Rogowski conclude that health insurance reform, ranging from market reforms to subsidies to individual mandates, is likely to narrow the gap between the preand post-retirement price of health insurance for many workers, thus increasing the incentive to retire. While all literature suggests that reform will increase the incentive to retire, the authors note that the size of the effect is still a matter of contention. Based on our review, we believe their conclusion to be appropriate.

C. The Elderly

Yelowitz (1996) uses the implementation of a Medicare beneficiary buy-in program for Medicaid (the Qualified Medicare Beneficiary Program, or QMB) as a natural experiment to examine the effect of the program on SSI participation for the elderly.

Before the QMB program, Medicare beneficiaries had to meet the SSI means test to qualify for Medicaid. Medicaid coverage for Medicare beneficiaries can be very valuable because it covers many services, such as drugs and long-term care, that have only very limited coverage under Medicare, and because Medicare has deductibles and coinsurance and requires beneficiaries to pay a premium to obtain physician and outpatient coverage. Under the QMB program, many low-income Medicare beneficiaries who do not meet the SSI means test qualify for limited Medicaid benefits--including payment of the Medicare Part B premium and payment of deductibles and coinsurance amounts. The hypothesis Yelowitz tests is that the introduction of the QMB program reduced the number of elderly SSI beneficiaries, presumably because fewer Medicare beneficiaries reduced their incomes (e.g., but stopping work) or spent down their assets to become SSI eligible.

The QMB program was first implemented voluntarily, by 10 states, between 1987 and 1990, then was mandated for all states from 1991 on. Under the program, the maximum income that an individual can have and qualify for QMB status varies across

states and over time and also depends on the individual's marital status. The maximum income that an individual can have and qualify for SSI, including earnings, depends on the individual's non-labor income (e.g., Social Security payments), the federal maximum SSI benefit, and any state SSI supplement to the federal maximum. Yelowitz uses the difference between the QMB income maximum and the SSI income maximum as a measure of variation in the size of the QMB expansion across states, over time, and across-individuals with varying non-labor income and marital status within states. The variable is used in a regression framework, to predict SSI participation. The regression model is in other respects similar to the specification he uses in his research on disabled SSI recipients, discussed previously. Other variables in the equation include individual characteristics, state fixed effects, and year effects.

Yelowitz obtains very strong results in support of the hypothesis the QMB expansions reduced SSI participation, both in terms of statistical significance and magnitude. Using his results, he estimates that SSI participation would have been from 25 to 40 percent higher in 1992 than it actually was if there were no QMB program. He estimates SSI benefit savings for 1992 of \$0.9 to \$1.4 billion dollars, in comparison to \$1.3 billion in expenditures on QMB. This suggests that the QMB program substantially "paid for itself."

Yelowitz' findings for the elderly are much more convincing than his findings for SSI participation of working-age people with disabilities. The primary reason is that he was able to use a major eligibility expansion for Medicaid to directly estimate one of its impacts--one that varied substantially in size across states, over time, and even across individuals. While it would be a mistake to conclude that a similar expansion for disabled persons under age 65 would have a similar effect because of differences in their health and, perhaps more importantly, their insurance alternatives, the results provide strong support for the view that expansion of public health insurance can reduce participation in income support programs.¹⁸

¹⁸ Yelowitz did not examine the effect of the QMB program on employment and earnings of those over 65. Such a study would be interesting, especially for those in the younger age range (e.g. 65-74) who may rely significantly on earned income. In theory, the effect could be either positive or negative -- possibly positive because people would not stop working to become SSI eligible, but possibly negative because Medicaid payment for health care would reduce their income needs.

V. HEALTH INSURANCE AND EMPLOYMENT OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Health insurance coverage is especially important for many persons with disabilities, as their need for medical services is much greater than that of persons without physical or mental impairments. In addition, those with impairments may face difficulty in obtaining coverage because of their conditions, or may face restrictions in the types of services covered by their insurance (Friedland and Evans, 1994). The availability of health insurance for persons with disabilities also has several important labor market implications insofar as loss or continuation of Medicare benefits weakens or strengthens work incentives. In this section we present and discuss the literature that describes the health insurance and employment status of persons with disabilities in order to provide a basis for the empirical analyses we will conduct using national survey and SSA administrative data.

We would like to be able to identify the groups that would be most affected by policies that would expand health insurance access to persons with disabilities and, based on the current employment/program participation status of those individuals, try to infer what the impact of those policies would be on their work effort. In this section, the primary questions we attempt to answer include:

- 1. What are the labor force and program participation patterns of persons with and without disabilities?
 - by type and severity of disability;
 - by age and level of education;
- 2. What are the income and earnings of workers with and without disabilities?
 - by type and severity of disability;
 - by employment status;
 - by age and level of education;
- 3. What are the sources of health insurance for persons with and without disabilities?
 - by type and severity of disability
 - by employment status and income level;
 - by age and level of education;
- 4. What are the total and out-of-pocket health expenditures of persons with and without disabilities?
 - by type and severity of disability;
 - by health insurance status and income level;
 - by age and level of education;

In the sections below, we present information available from the published literature to answer some of these questions. We first present information regarding the employment and program participation patterns of persons with and without disabilities, and their levels of earnings and income. We then present information about health expenditures and health insurance coverage of persons with and without disabilities. In general, a wide range of information is currently available, though its somewhat dated nature and the availability of more recent survey data justify our effort to conduct further empirical analyses in this area. For example, we present information on employment and program participation, though it is largely from 1990 or earlier. The information we have found on employment and insurance status of persons with disabilities is limited in that it does not describe the sources of insurance, nor does it provide health insurance/employment information for specific groups of persons with disabilities (e.g., by type of disability on age).

A. Employment and Program Participation of Persons with Disabilities

In this section we present data detailing the extent to which persons with disabilities work and utilize income support programs. Also, to the extent that labor force and program participation differ across the groups of interest and by demographic characteristics, it is important to illustrate differences in income and earnings between persons with and without disabilities by factors such as age, education health status, and gender. Our discussion draws heavily from a recent study by **Mathematica Policy Research (MPR, 1995)** which used data from the 1990 NHIS to examine employment patters of persons with disabilities.

Labor Force Participation and Disability Status. Mathematica Policy Research (MPR, 1995) conducted a study using data from the 1990 NHIS that provides information on employment and labor force participation among persons with disabilities. We present a number of these findings in *Exhibit 3*. The data presented in this exhibit reflect labor market activity over the two-week period of the survey for persons with and without limitations. MPR separates the sample into those with no limitation, some limitation in work or other major activity, and no limitation based on responses to the NHIS survey questions. For example, individuals are considered unable to work if they report that they are prevented from working at a job or business (or doing any housework at all) because of any impairment or health problem.¹⁹ Individuals are reported to have a work limitation if they report that they are limited in the kind or amount of work they can do at a job or business because of an impairment or health problem.

¹⁹ Note that some individuals who report that they are unable to work nevertheless hold paying jobs in the labor market.

EXHIBIT 3. Patterns of Disability and Work, 1990							
			Has a Job		Does Not Have a Job		
Disability Status	Total	Worked	Did Not Work	Total	Unemployed	Not in Labor Force	Total
TOTAL							
Number (1000s)	145,349	109,537	2,117	111,653	5,311	28,385	33,696
Percent	100.0	75.4	1.5	76.8	3.7	19.5	23.2
NOT LIMITED							
Number (1000s)	127,946	100,951	1,613	102,564	4,614	20,768	25,382
Percent	100.0	79.9	1.3	80.2	3.6	16.2	19.8
LIMITED IN WORK	OR OTHER /	ACTIVITIES	6				
Number (1000s)	10,679	7,775	183,736	7,958	431	2,290	2,721
Percent	100.0	72.8	1.7	74.5	4.0	21.5	25.5
UNABLE TO WORK							
Number (1000s)	6,725	811	321	1,132	266	5,327	5,593
Percent	100.0	12.1	4.8	16.8	4.0	79.2	83.2
SOURCE: MPR (19	995), based o	n data from	the 1990 N	IHIS.			

The data in Exhibit 3 indicate that severity of limitation is strongly inversely correlated with employment. Indeed, the employment rate among persons with some limitation in work or other activities is lower than that among non-limited persons (74.5 percent versus 80.2 percent), while the rate among those described as unable to work is dramatically lower (16.8 percent). In terms of labor force participation rates, the values for the respective groups are 78.5 percent, 83.8 percent, and 20.8 percent, respectively.

EXHIBIT 4. Work Limitation* and Work Status, 1989							
	No	With	With Severe				
	Work Limitation	Work Limitation	Work Limitation				
	LABOR FORCE STATUS, 1990						
In Labor Force	79.9%	64.8%	12.3%				
Employed	75.7%	57.6%	9.6%				
Unemployed	4.2%	7.2%	2.7%				
Not in Labor Force	20.1%	35.3%	87.7%				
	WORK EXPERIEN	NCE, 1989					
Worked During Year	84.2%	76.3%	14.7%				
Year-round, full-time	53.3%	29.8%	3.3%				
Irregularly/part-time	30.9%	46.4%	11.4%				
Did Not Work	Did Not Work 15.8% 23.7% 85.2%						

SOURCE: NIDRR (1992) based on data from the 1989 CPS.

* Work Limitation is defined as a limitation in work due to chronic illness or impairment. Severe work limitation is not working at all due to impairment or indicated by receipt of Medicare or SSI.

The MPR data supplements 1989 CPS data presented in our previous literature review. Although the **NIDRR (1992)** study reporting the CPS data uses different definitions of disability, labor force participation and income information, it nevertheless shows that persons with severe and non-severe limitations differ substantially from each other and from those with no limitations (*Exhibit 4*). Persons with severe limitations are

highly unlikely to be employed. Over three-quarters of persons with non-severe limitations worked in the previous year, but most worked irregularly or part-time.

Ficke (1991) also provides data descriptive of labor force participation by work disability status. Data is obtained from the 1988 Current Population Survey and includes persons age 16 to 64 who have a work disability, where work disability is defined according to Census Bureau classifications.²⁰ Ficke finds that only 35.7 percent of males and 27.5 percent of females with a work disability were in the labor force, compared with 88.9 percent and 69.5 percent for the respective groups among those with no work disability. Further, only 23.4 percent of males and 13.1 percent of females with a work disability were full-time employees, compared to 74.8 percent and 41.7 percent for the respective groups among those with no work disability. Finally, the unemployment rate among both males and females with work disability was 6.5 percent and 5.2 percent respectively. Ficke's findings provide further support of the observed negative correlation between disability and employment status.

Disability, Education and Labor Force Participation. MPR (1995) illustrates that education has the same impact on labor force participation among persons with disabilities as among persons without disabilities. For example, the employment rate among persons classified as unable to work is greater among persons with a post-secondary education (25.9 percent) than among persons with a grade-school education (8.6 percent) (*Exhibit 5*). These data indicate that education is associated with increased employment, even among those with relatively serious disabilities.

EXHIBIT 5. Patterns of Employment by Education and Disability Status, 1990							
Education	Total	Employed	Not Employed				
NONE	NONE - 8 TH GRADE						
Total							
Number (in 1000s)	8,303	4,695	3,607				
Percent	100.0	56.6	43.5				
Not Limited							
Number (in 1000s)	6,126	4,122	2,004				
Percent	100.0	67.3	32.7				
Limited in Work or Other Activities							
Number (in 1000s)	730	449	282				
Percent	100.0	61.5	38.5				
Unable to Work							
Number (in 1000s)	1,446	124	1,322				
Percent	100.0	8.6	91.4				

²⁰ That is, a person is classified as having a work disability if any of the following conditions apply: has a health problem or disability which prevents them from working or which limits the kind or amount of work they can do; has a service connected disability or ever retired or left a job for health reasons; has a long term physical or mental illness or disability which prevents the performance of any kind of work; did not work at all in the previous year because ill or disabled; under 65 years of age and covered by Medicare; or under 65 ears of age and a recipient of Supplemental Security Income (SSI). Further, individuals are classified as having a severe work disability if any of items 3 through 6 applied.

EXHIBIT 5 (continued)							
Education	Total	Employed	Not Employed				
9 TH - 12 TH GRADE							
Total							
Number (in 1000s)	73,106	53,842	19,264				
Percent	100.0	73.7	26.4				
Not Limited							
Number (in 1000s)	63,736	49,288	14,447				
Percent	100.0	77.3	22.7				
Limited in Work or Other Activities							
Number (in 1000s)	5,584	3,910	1,674				
Percent	100.0	70.0	30.0				
Unable to Work							
Number (in 1000s)	3,786	64,783	3,142				
Percent	100.0	17.0	83.0				
1 - 4 + YEA	ARS OF COLLE	GE					
Total							
Number (in 1000s)	62,569	52,192	10,376				
Percent	100.0	83.4	16.6				
Not Limited							
Number (in 1000s)	56,947	48,306	8,641				
Percent	100.0	84.8	15.2				
Limited in Work or Other Activities							
Number (in 1000s)	4,270	3,537	733				
Percent	100.0	82.8	17.2				
Unable to Work							
Number (in 1000s)	1,351	349	1,002				
Percent	100.0	25.9	74.1				
SOURCE: MPR (1995), based on data from the 1990 NHIS.							

Age and Labor Force Participation. Although persons with limitations have lower rates of employment than those without limitations, the association between age and relative rates of employment is quite similar across groups. We present supporting data from MPR (1995) in **Exhibit 6**. Notice that employment across categories of limitations follows a similar trend; starting relatively high for the group age 18 to 29, falling among those age 30 to 49 and then rising slightly among those age 50 to 61. This trend does not hold, however, for those classified as unable to work. Among this group the lowest rates of employment occur among persons age 50 to 61.

EXHIBIT 6. Employment Status by Age and Disability Status, 1990					
Age	Total	Employed	Not Employed		
18	- 29 YEARS				
Total					
Number (in 1000s)	22,438	17,951	4,487		
Percent	100.0	80.0	20.0		
Not Limited					
Number (in 1000s)	20,966	17,098	3,869		
Percent	100.0	81.6	18.5		
Limited in Work or Other Activities					
Number (in 1000s)	1,007	767	240		
Percent	100.0	76.2	23.8		
Unable to Work					
Number (in 1000s)	465	860	379		
Percent	100.0	18.5	81.5		
30	- 49 YEARS	•			
Total					
Number (in 1000s)	35,826	32,640	3,186		
Percent	100.0	91.1	8.9		
Not Limited					
Number (in 1000s)	31,823	30,033	1,790		
Percent	100.0	94.4	5.6		
Limited in Work or Other Activities					
Number (in 1000s)	2,540	2,298	242		
Percent	100.0	90.5	9.5		
Unable to Work					
Number (in 1000s)	1,463	310	1,154		
Percent	100.0	21.2	78.8		
50	- 61 YEARS				
Total					
Number (in 1000s)	12,677	10,099	2,578		
Percent	100.0	79.7	20.3		
Not Limited					
Number (in 1000s)	9,849	8,692	1,157		
Percent	100.0	88.3	11.8		
Limited in Work or Other Activities					
Number (in 1000s)	1,454	1,220	234		
Percent	100.0	83.9	16.1		
Unable to Work					
Number (in 1000s)	1,374	187	1,187		
Percent	100.0	13.6	86.4		
SOURCE MPR (1995) based on data from	m the 1990 NHIS				

Incidence of Specific Health Conditions. Insofar as the potential for labor force participation and responsiveness to incentives created by public policies vary across persons with disabled by different health conditions, an understanding of the conditions most likely to cause disability is useful. In *Exhibit 7*, we present a summary of the distribution of medical conditions among persons reporting that they are unable to work due to a health condition as reported in MPR (1995). Of the classified conditions, musculoskeletal, circulatory and mental conditions are most common among those self-reporting an inability to work.

EXHIBIT 7. Incidence of Health Conditions among Those Described as					
Unable to Work, 1990					
Health Condition	Percent				
Musculoskeletal System	35.2				
Circulatory Conditions	12.4				
Mental Disorders	9.0				
Nervous System	8.7				
Mental Retardation	5.4				
Neoplasms	4.5				
Respiratory Disease	4.4				
Metabolic or Immunity	3.3				
Digestive System	2.4				
Other Conditions	11.5				
Total					
Number (in 1000s)	6,725				
Percent	100.0				
SOURCE: MPR (1995), based on data from the 1990 NHIS.					

These findings compare with data from the SIPP reported in a study by **McNeil** (1993), and presented in our previous literature review, which show both back or spine problems and circulatory conditions among the three most common causes of physical, activities of daily living (ADL) or instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) limitations (*Exhibit 8*).²¹ Incidence rates differ because McNeil considers persons with any limitations, while MPR includes only those classified as unable to work. This difference explains the grater incidence of mental disorders, a relatively more serious condition, found in MPR 1995.

EXHIBIT 8. Ten Most Frequently Reported Conditions as Cause of Physical, ADL, or IADL Limitations Among Persons Aged 15 to 64 Reporting a Limitation, 1991-1992				
Health Condition	Percent Reporting Condition as Reason for Limitation			
Back or Spine	19.0			
Arthritis or Rheumatism	13.1			
Heart and Circulatory Problems	7.6			
Lung or Respiratory Problems	7.0			
Deformity of Foot, Leg, Arm, or Hand	5.6			
High Blood Pressure	4.6			
Diabetes	3.7			
Mental or Emotional Problem	3.1			
Blindness or Vision Problems	2.4			
Mental Retardation	2.3			
SOURCE: MPR (1993), based on data from the 1991 SIPP.				

Program Participation. Below, we present information on the program participation behavior of persons with and without disabilities as obtained from analyses of the 1990 NHIS (MPR, 1990). Differences in benefit recipiency rates by gender are especially apparent among persons who report that they are unable to work **(Exhibit 9)**.

²¹ ADLs include toileting, eating, bathing, dressing, and transferring in and out of a bed or chair. IADLs include using a telephone, keeping track of finances, preparing meals, doing homework, and getting around outside of the home.

While about two-thirds of men unable to work receive benefits, only slightly more than half of women receive public or private benefits. Additionally, over one-third of men receive social security benefits, which include DI benefits and a small number of other types of social security benefits, while the corresponding number for women is only slightly greater than one-fifth. Also, the percentage of women receiving pension benefits is considerably less than that of men across all categories of limitation.

EXHIBIT 9: Receipt of Benefit Payments by Disability Status and Gender (percent) 1990						
	Total	Not Limited	Some Activity Limitation	Unable to Work		
ALL PERSONS	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
No Pension or Welfare	90.8	94.0	84.1	41.2		
Only Pension Income	2.5	1.9	6.2	8.4		
Only Food Stamps	1.3	1.2	1.9	3.4		
Social Security	2.1	0.6	2.9	28.1		
SSI	0.9	0.2	1.7	12.1		
Other Welfare	2.5	2.2	3.2	6.7		
MEN	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
No Pension or Welfare	91.2	95.0	83.2	33.7		
Only Pension Income	3.6	2.6	10.3	11.8		
Only Food Stamps	1.4	1.2	1.9	3.4		
Social Security	2.1	0.4	2.1	35.1		
SSI	0.8	0.2	1.2	11.0		
Other Welfare	0.9	0.6	1.3	4.9		
WOMEN	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
No Pension or Welfare	90.4	93.0	84.9	48.5		
Only Pension Income	1.4	1.1	2.6	5.1		
Only Food Stamps	1.3	1.1	1.9	3.5		
Social Security	2.0	0.9	3.6	21.4		
SSI	1.0	0.2	2.2	13.2		
Other Welfare	4.1	3.7	4.9	8.4		
SOURCE: MPR (1995), based on data from the 1990 NHIS.						

When compared to data from the 1989 CPS presented in our previous review, the NHIS data reported by MPR (1995) suggest a different pattern (*Exhibit 10*). The differences, however, are largely a result of the use of different categories across the two studies. For example, MPR includes private pension benefits in of their distribution of benefits, while the CPS distribution does not include private benefits. Unfortunately, MPR does not provide the data necessary to recalculate the distribution of benefits without the pension data.

Income and Earnings of Persons with Disabilities. Information obtained from the 1990 CPS, and reported in McNeil (1993), indicates increases in severity of limitation are associated with decreases in mean earnings. Specifically, mean income for persons with no work limitation is \$19,851; for persons with limitations in the amount or kind of work that can be performed the amount falls to \$16,484; and the amount falls substantially for persons with a severe work limitation to only \$7,812.

EXHIBIT 10: Work Limitation* and Benefit Receipt, 1989				
Bonofit	No	With	With Severe	
Denem	Work Limitation	Work Limitation	Work Limitation	
Social Security	2.7%	10.3%	42.4%	
SSI			28.7%	
Food Stamps	5.4%	11.7%	24.7%	
Public Housing	1.4%	2.7%	5.9%	
Subsidized Housing	0.9%	1.5%	4.4%	

SOURCE: NIDRR (1992) based on data from the 1989 CPS.

* Work Limitation is defined as a limitation in work due to chronic illness or impairment. Severe work limitation is not working at all due to impairment or indicated by receipt of Medicare or SSI.

Also, the ratio of income to poverty among persons with limitations relative to that among persons with no limitations indicates that the former are more likely to be poor (defined as having incomes below 125 percent of the poverty line). Approximately 42.3 percent of persons severely limited in work capabilities are poor, twice the rate for persons with limited work capabilities (21.7 percent) and nearly four times the rate among persons without work disability (12.1 percent). A similar trend is evident for those with incomes which are at least twice the poverty level. The percentage for the aforementioned groups are 76.7 percent, 64.3 percent, and 38.8 percent respectively. Clearly, having a limitation is associated with lower incomes, and has an especially large effect among those with severe limitations (NIDRR, 1992).²²

We also examine the role of age and education on earnings among persons with and without disabilities, as presented in McNeil (1993). Both factors, education in particular, have strong effects on earnings for persons with no disability and persons with disabilities and severe disabilities (*Exhibit 11*). Increases in education are associated with increased earnings for nearly all age groups and disability classifications. Also, the previously observed differences in earnings remain after controlling for the level of educational attainment for nearly all groups as well. Finally, because of the strong negative correlation between education and disability status, it is important to recognize the importance of the manner by which disability affects earnings through its effect on levels of education and training.

²² Persons 15 years old and over were considered to have a disability if the person met any of the following criteria: used a wheelchair; had used a cane or similar aid for six months or longer; had difficulty with a functional activity; had difficulty with an ADL; had difficulty with an IADL; was identified as having a developmental disability or a mental or emotional disability, or had other conditions which made if difficult to do housework or limited the amount or kind of work the person could do at a job. Persons were classified as having a severe disability if they used a wheelchair or another special aid for six months or more; were unable to perform one or more functional activities or needed assistance with an ADL or IADL; were prevented from working at a job or doing housework; or had one of a number of selected conditions or were under age 65 and received SSI or covered by Medicare.

EXHIBIT 11: Mean Monthly Earnings by Age, Years of School Completed, and Disability Status, 1991									
Ago Voars	With No Disability			With a Non-Severe Disability			With a Severe Disability		
of School Completed	# With Earnings	Mean Earnings	Means Standard Error	# With Earnings	Mean Earnings	Means Standard Error	# With Earnings	Mean Earnings	Means Standard Error
ALL WORKERS (Total)	106153	1962	13	12840	1771	47	3374	1422	169
LESS THAN 35	49763	1481	13	3901	1281	43	955	1440	565
< 12 years	8230	786	18	816	818	59	239	628	70
12 years	18962	1364	16	1650	1220	52	435	1865	1301
13 - 15 years	12383	1373	32	1013	1358	94	179	1130	112
16 years +	10189	2391	34	422	2232	205	102	B*	B*
35 TO 54	45404	2446	25	6215	2006	47	1531	1562	77
< 12 years	4884	1487	40	1055	1286	74	398	1016	73
12 years	16548	1876	23	2378	1778	70	522	1343	98
13 - 15 years	10208	2290	36	1548	1974	70	335	1875	148
16 years +	13765	3587	67	1234	3099	136	276	2382	294
56 AND OVER	10986	2137	47	2724	1936	181	889	1164	115
< 12 years	2342	1355	43	822	1154	79	344	925	116
12 years	4235	1725	61	1023	1878	430	291	1184	290
13 - 15 years	1806	2120	90	414	1921	167	153	1403	170
16 years +	2603	3524	140	465	3461	401	101	B*	B*
SOÚRCE: McNeil (1993), based on data from the 1991 SIPP.									

* Base of less than 150,000

B. Health Insurance Coverage and Expenditures of Persons with Disabilities

1. Health Insurance Coverage

The previously discussed Mathematica Policy Research (1995) also provides information on the insurance characteristics of persons with disabilities. Using data from the 1990 NHIS, the authors provide information on insurance status among persons with disabilities by education, employment status, and gender. These data indicate that persons with disabilities are less likely than those without a disability to have health insurance other than Medicare or Medicaid, especially so for those described as unable to work (*Exhibit 12*).

EXHIBIT 12. Activity Limitations, Employment Status and Health Insurance (Percent Distribution), 1990						
	Total	Not Limited	Some Activity Limitation	Unable to Work		
TOTAL	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Medicaid	4.1	3.1	5.8	21.2		
Medicare	1.4	0.2	1.8	22.5		
Other Insurance	76.9	79.1	75.1	36.5		
Not Insured	17.6	17.5	17.3	19.7		
EMPLOYED						
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Medicaid	1.1	0.9	2.1	7.9		
Medicare	0.3	0.1	1.0	7.1		
Other Insurance	83.1	83.4	81.2	64.0		
Not Insured	15.6	15.5	15.7	21.0		
	NC	T EMPLOYED				
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Medicaid	14.2	11.8	16.4	23.9		
Medicare	5.1	0.7	4.3	25.6		
Other Insurance	56.4	61.9	57.2	31.0		
Not Insured	24.3	25.6	22.1	19.5		
SOURCE: MPR (1995), based on data from the 1990 NHIS.						

Also note that the uninsured rate is slightly higher among those described as unable to work who nevertheless have jobs than for those unable to work who do not have jobs. However, the rate of uninsurance among those unable to work and not working is less than the rate of uninsurance among non-working persons with no limitation. These findings may be partially attributable to the employment situation among those described as unable to work as many may have jobs where insurance benefits are not offered. Perhaps more importantly, those described as unable to work who do not work are eligible for Medicare or Medicaid, programs for which those who work may not be eligible. Indeed, the authors also report that Medicare beneficiaries make up an unusually large proportion of those unable to work who do not work. This finding may be especially important in light of the possible work incentives facing DI beneficiaries regarding their Medicare recipiency. Indeed, MPR (1995) also notes that enrollment in Medicare or Medicaid is negatively correlated with participation in the labor force among working age adults. For example, they find that only 20.5 percent of those with Medicaid and 14.3 percent of those with Medicare are employed, compared with 83.0 percent of those with other insurance (*Exhibit 13*). They note that Medicare and Medicaid coverage are associated with the lowest employment rates among the specified insurance types, though this difference may be partly attributable to poorer health among Medicare and Medicaid recipients. For instance, MPR finds that Medicare recipients report greater than average bed days than the group as a whole (61 versus 48 per year). Thus it is likely that the lack of health insurance is not the only disincentive for work; poor health is another important factor.

Finally, MPR finds that among those who are unable to work, women are more likely to be covered by employment-based insurance and private sources. Also, while women are more likely to be covered by Medicaid, men are more likely to have Medicare coverage, though they note that the latter trend may be explained by the traditionally stronger attachment to the labor force among men and the fact that Medicare is attached to former employment. Ultimately, women have lower rates of employment regardless of the existence of activity limitations, and average more bed days than men for all levels of disability.

EXHIBIT 13. Health Insurance and Employment Status, 1990						
Type of Health Insurance	Total	Not Employed				
TOTAL						
Number (1000s)	6,724	1,132	5,593			
Percent	100.0	16.8	83.2			
	MEDI	CAID				
Number (1000s)	1,429	90	1,339			
Percent	100.0	6.3	93.7			
	MEDICARE					
Number (1000s)	1,513	80	1,433			
Percent	100.0	5.3	94.7			
	OTHER INSURANCE					
Number (1000s)	2,458	724	1,733			
Percent	100.0	29.5	70.5			
NOT INSURED						
Number (1000s)	1,326	238	1,088			
Percent	100.0	17.9	82.1			
SOURCE: MPR (1995), based on data from the 1990 NHIS.						

Analyzing data from the 1989 NHIS, **LaPlante (1993)** reports that 16.6 percent of persons without activity limitations and 17.8 percent of persons with activity limitations lack insurance for health care services (*Exhibit 14*). These data also indicate that, relative to those without activity limitations, a significantly lower percentage of persons with an activity limitation have private health insurance while a significantly higher percentage have either public or both private and public health insurance.

EXHIBIT 14. Health Insurance Coverage of Persons Ages 18-64, 1989					
	Persons with Activity Limitation (percent)	Persons without Activity Limitation (percent)	All Persons (percent)		
Private Insurance Only	54.7	77.7	74.7		
Public Insurance Only	18.7	3.7	5.7		
Private & Public Insurance	8.2	1.6	2.5		
Undefined Plans	0.6	0.4	0.4		
Not Insured	17.8	16.6	16.7		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Medicare	11.4	0.4	1.9		
Medicaid	14.8	2.8	4.4		
SOURCE: LaPlante (1993), base	ed on the 1989 NHIS.				

Finally, the **Urban Institute (1997)** provides additional information on the type of insurance coverage among persons with disabilities aged 58 to 63. The authors use data from the 1994 Health and Retirement Survey (HRS) to estimate uninsurance rates and prevalence of coverage across several types of public and private insurance (*Exhibit 15*). Here, the authors define disability as having a lot of difficulty with one or more of a set of functions ranging from feeding or dressing oneself to lifting ten pounds or walking one block. Among persons with disabilities, the uninsurance rate is reported to be 13 percent; much higher than the rate of 8.7 percent among persons without disabilities. Additionally, they find that persons with disabilities aged 58 to 63 are less likely to have employer-based coverage provided by a current or previous employer (36 percent compared to 56 percent). The authors also report that of all persons in the age group of concern, only about 18 percent receive SSI or DI. Of this 18 percent, nearly one-third are not working (not shown in Exhibit 15).

EXHIBIT 15. Percentage of Persons Age 58-63 Across Health Insurance Coverage, 1994								
Disability Status	Own ESI	COBRA	Spouse ESI	Other Private	Medicaid	Medicare	Uninsured	Total
Yes	30.4%	5.6%	22.9%	8.8%	6.9%	13.1%	12.5%	100%
No	49.1%	7.0%	21.9%	8.9%	1.1%	3.3%	8.7%	100%
SOURCE: Urban Institute (1997), based on data from the 1994 HRS.								

2. Health Expenditures

Alecxih et al. (1995) used data from the 1987 National Medical Expenditure Survey (NMES) to estimate general health expenditures and out-of pocket expenditures among persons with disabilities. Results from logistic regressions also indicate that persons with disabilities were 13 percent more likely to have health care expenditures than those without disabilities, after controlling for the following differences in the populations: disability status, age, race, gender, family income, living arrangement, and insurance coverage. Also, among non-elderly persons, average health expenditures for those with disabilities were 6.2 times higher than for those persons without disabilities (\$9,379 compared with \$1,301).

Medicaid covered the greatest portion of the large difference in expenditures between persons with and without disabilities (28 percent). Medicare accounted for a slightly larger proportion (21 percent) of the difference than private insurance or other federal programs (16 percent and 15 percent, respectively). Out-of-pocket payments covered six percent of the difference. Among the non-elderly, average out of pocket payments among the disabled were nearly three times that of persons with no disability (\$1,038 compared to \$384).

EXHIBIT 16. Percent of Persons with Expenditures for Each Type of Health Care						
Service	Service and Average Expenditure per User, Persons Under Age 65, 1987					
	All	All Persons		ut Disabilities	With Disabilities	
Type of Service	Percent Using	Average Expenditures	Percent Using	Average Expenditures	Percent Using	Average Expenditures
Any service	83.1	\$1,387	82.9	\$1,301	97.6	\$9,379
Prescribed Medication	54.0	\$128	53.7	\$123	88.8	\$455
Home/Community Based Care	1.4	\$1,130	1.2	\$798	21.5	\$3,107
Durable Medical Equipment	18.7	\$149	18.4	\$144	51.4	\$346
Dental Visits	43.2	\$294	43.3	\$293	35.4	\$297
Hospital Stays	7.4	\$7,241	7.2	\$6,815	31.9	\$17,863
Physician Office Visits	66.6	\$293	66.5	\$283	83.5	\$1,113
Outpatient Visits	15.9	\$899	15.6	\$860	44.7	\$2,385
Emergency Room	13.8	\$263	13.7	\$260	25.0	\$466
SOURCE: Lewin-VHI (1995c), base on data from the 1987 NMES.						

We also present data from **Lewin-VHI (1995c)** which illustrate utilization and expenditure patterns of persons with and without disabilities by type of service (*Exhibit* **16**). These data also come from the 1987 NMES. Except for dental visits, persons with disabilities experience substantially higher utilization and average expenditures for all types of health services than do persons without disabilities. Overall expenditures for all health care services average \$9,379 for persons with disabilities and \$1,301 for persons without disabilities. Relative to persons without disabilities, at least twice the percentage of persons with disabilities use home and community based care, durable medical equipment, and inpatient and outpatient hospital services. Expenditures for persons with disabilities for home and community based care, hospital stays, physician office visits and outpatient hospital visit average more than three times as much as similar visits for persons without disabilities.

Another study using the 1987 NMES reports the incidence of catastrophic expenditures among persons with limitations (Lewin-VHI, 1995d). In *Exhibit* 17, the incidence of catastrophic out-of-pocket costs are compared under the three alternative measures for specific subgroups of the population. For this comparison, persons with costs greater than or equal to ten percent of family income, persons with costs greater than or equal to 15 percent of per capita family income, and persons whose incomes net of health expenditures were brought to a level below the poverty line were defined as having catastrophic costs. These are the income, per capita income, and poverty line measures, respectively. After controlling for characteristics related to health care expenditures, the data indicate that persons with IADL or ADL limitations were substantially more likely to incur catastrophic costs as persons with no ADL or IADL limitations (Exhibit 17). The authors also estimate the likelihood of catastrophic expenditures using multivariate regression analysis. After controlling for age, race,

education, gender, disability, health status, type of health insurance coverage and income, they find that persons with three or more ADL limitations were three times as likely to incur catastrophic costs then those with no ADL or IADL limitations.

EXHIBIT 17. Incidence (Percent) of Catastrophic Expenditures Among Selected Population Subgroups for Three Alternative Measures ^a , 1987					
Population Subgroup	Income Measure	Per Capita Income Measure	Poverty Line Measure		
DISABILITY/HEALTH STATUS					
No IADL/ADL Difficulty	3.4	5.3	0.5		
IADL Difficulties	21.6	21.3	7.6		
1-2 ADL Difficulties	8.5	10.5	2.0		
3+ ADL Difficulties	28.2	34.2	8.8		
Good or Excellent Health	2.6	4.3	0.4		
Fair or Poor Health	12.1	15.0	2.8		
Number of observations	1,541	2,222	332		
Percent	4.2%	6.1%	0.8%		
Number of weighted persons	10.0 Million	14.6 Million	1.9 Million		
SOURCE: Lewin-VHI (1995d), based on data from the 1987 NMES.					

a. Includes community residents only. Catastrophic measures are defined as follows: Income Measure = out-of-pocket costs greater than or equal to 10% of family income; Per Capita Measure = out-of-pocket costs greater than or equal to 15% of per capita family income; Poverty Line Measure = family income net of out-of-pocket costs falls from above the poverty line to at or below the poverty line.

VI. CONCLUSION

In this section, we summarize the main findings of our review. We provide: a summary of what we know about the relationship between access to health insurance and the employment and program participation patterns of persons with disabilities; a discussion of significant gaps in our knowledge; and a description of research currently underway that explores this issue. We conclude with a summary of recent legislative proposals to expand health insurance to persons with disabilities.

A. What We Know

The findings of our review of the literature on the relationship between access to health insurance and the employment or program participation behavior of persons with disabilities can be summarized as follows:

Health care costs for people with disabilities are generally much higher than for those without disabilities. We have found studies that examine the total out-of-pocket health care expenditures of persons with and without disabilities. These studies have found that, on average, total health expenditures for non-elderly persons with disabilities are about six times greater than the expenditures of their non-disabled counterparts, and out-of-pocket expenditures are about three times greater. One study also found that persons with disabilities are significantly more likely to experience catastrophic out-ofpocket expenditures than persons without disabilities, and that this likelihood increases dramatically with the presence of an IADL or more than two ADLs.

The eligibility requirements for Medicare and Medicaid create financial incentives that discourage or encourage work, depending on the current status of the individual. For persons with disabilities, qualification for Medicare and Medicaid is primarily contingent upon participation in the DI and SSI programs. DI and SSI eligibility requires that individuals do not engage in substantial work activity, thereby creating a strong work disincentive for persons with disabilities who lack health insurance. The DI and SSI programs do, however, have provisions that allow program participants to return to work and still maintain eligibility for Medicare or Medicaid benefits as long as they do not experience a medical recovery, thereby creating some incentive to return to work among DI and SSI beneficiaries. In the case of DI beneficiaries, these provisions only apply, however, for a limited period of time. The way the disabilities who lack health insurance. They must reduce work effort to qualify for benefits, but subsequently may increase their work effort and still maintain benefits, but only temporarily.

Many DI and SSI beneficiaries say they would work, or work more, except that they are afraid of losing their Medicare or Medicaid benefits. We have found several examples of studies where persons with disabilities, when asked, have indicated that the loss of health insurance benefits provided through Medicare or Medicaid was a deterrent from engaging in substantial work effort.

Health insurance access has substantial effects on the employment or program participation decisions of others -- single mothers, older workers, and the elderly. There are a number of studies that find convincing evidence of a relationship between access to health insurance and employment and program participation decisions: Medicaid was shown to have a positive effect on AFDC participation among single mothers; access to post-retirement health insurance benefits was shown to have a positive effect on labor force exits of older workers; and a provision in the Medicaid program that allows elderly, low income Medicare beneficiaries to obtain Medicaid coverage without having to first be eligible for SSI was shown to significantly reduce SSI participation for that group.

B. Significant Gaps

We have not found strong empirical evidence of the relationship between health insurance access and employment or program participation for people with disabilities. We do not know how this relationship depends on current employment and insurance status as well as other factors.

For SSI recipients or potential SSI recipients, the effects of delinking Medicaid from SSI could be larger or smaller than they are for low-income single mothers. Both groups have difficulty obtaining health insurance via employment. On the one hand, health care expenditures are, on average, much higher for people with disabilities, so the size of the incentive is larger. On the other hand, people with disabilities might be less responsive to an expansion because their health conditions may prevent them from working even if health insurance is not an issue.

For DI recipients or potential DI recipients, the effect of expanding access to public health insurance might be quite different. Expansions might help some DI recipients return to work, but might encourage potential DI recipients to leave work -- similar to the effect of EPRHI on early retirements.

We conclude by raising an issue that is not addressed in this review, but which is likely to be of concern to analysts and policymakers as they consider public health insurance to people with disabilities -- namely, that public insurance expansions may "crowd out" private insurance. Coverage under the expanded public program for individuals who would be covered under private insurance in the absence of the expansion increases program cost.

Some people with disabilities who are insured privately under current policy and not eligible for the public program may become eligible for the public program under the expansion, and voluntarily switch. This seems especially likely if the individual is covered as a dependent on the policy of someone else, or if the individual needs services that are not covered by the private policy -- including the services that are covered by Medicaid but not by most private policies today. Employer benefit decisions (e.g., about coverage of services needed by disabled employees or dependents, or about employee premium contributions) could encourage switching.

Cutler and Gruber (1996) examine the extent to which the Medicaid expansions to pregnant women and children during the late 1980s and early 1990s crowded out private insurance for those made eligible. Using a difference in differences methodology like that adopted by Yelowitz (1995) to study the effect of these same expansions on employment and program participation of affected mothers, they estimate that 31 percent of the growth in Medicaid enrollment caused by the expansion was offset by reductions in private coverage. They conclude that most of the crowding out occurred because individuals who were eligible for private coverage under employer policies found the public coverage more attractive, but also cite some evidence that employers increased the employee share of the private insurance premium in response to the Medicaid expansion.

Another study by **Dubay and Kenny (1997)** also found evidence of crowding out among near-poor pregnant women due to the Medicaid expansions. Their estimates of the increase in Medicaid participation attributable to crowding out during the period of Medicaid expansions were substantially lower than those of Cutler and Gruber (about half). This difference is due to differences in the methodologies used in the two studies. The Dubay and Kenny study used the private insurance coverage experience of men over the period as a control group for the women in their analysis, examining aggregate changes in private insurance and Medicaid coverage over the 1988 to 1992 period. **Gruber and Cutler (1997)** point out that using men as a control group may have lead to an underestimate of the effect because the Medicaid expansions may have affected private coverage for men. In addition, the insurance coverage of men may not be a valid control group because of a differential effect of the 1990-1992 recession on men and women due to differences in the occupational distribution between the sexes.

Crowding out may be higher or lower for people with disabilities than for women who are pregnant mothers or have young children. If more comprehensive benefits are included in the public coverage, the incentive to switch for people with disabilities would presumably be greater than for the affected women. Another consideration, though, is the extent to which people with disabilities who would be eligible for the expanded coverage are currently covered by private insurers, in comparison to the coverage that the affected class of mothers would obtain in the absence of the expanded Medicaid coverage. If the former is smaller than the latter, the amount of crowd-out for the former may also be smaller.

C. Work in Progress

During the course of preparing this review we have found one ongoing effort in addition to the projects we are conducting for ASPE, that may produce results of relevance in the not too distant future, both on Medicare and DI. David Blau has told us

that he would like to apply the methodology that he used to study the impact of employer provided retiree health insurance **(Blau and Gilleskie, 1996)** and other factors on retirement decisions to study the impact of the same factors on DI applications and awards. If conducted, this analysis would like show how sensitive DI applications and awards might be to reducing or removing the two-month waiting period. His timetable for conducting that work will depend on resources and other priorities.

For this ASPE project, we plan to exploit cross-state and temporal variation in the 1619(b) income eligibility levels to estimate the relationship between 1619(b) income eligibility thresholds and a variety of employment and program participation outcomes among SSI recipients. We plan to follow the earnings, benefit payments, program participation status, and mortality of 1990 disabled SSI recipients between the ages of 18 and 49 who had some earnings in 1990, through December 1996. We will estimate a series of models for each of the outcomes in each year from 1991 through 1996. The dependent variable will be the *change* in the particular outcome variable. The model will include six types of explanatory variables: base-year individual characteristics, changes in individual characteristics (base year to current year), base-year state-level factors, changes in state-level factors, annual dummy variables, and interactions. We hypothesize that there will be a positive relationship between earnings and 1619(b) income thresholds, and a negative relationship between SSI benefits/program participation and 1619(b) eligibility thresholds.

A second ASPE-sponsored project we are just beginning will examine the effect of significant Medicaid expansions in two states, Tennessee and Oregon, on the employment and program participation behavior of disabled SSI recipients in those states. For that project, we will conduct a quantitative analysis of the employment and earnings patterns of SSI recipients in TN and OR before and after the implementation of the Medicaid expansions using a 'difference-in-differences' approach. Other states similar to Tennessee and Oregon, but that did not implement similar expansions, will serve as controls in the analysis. The project also involves collection and assessment of qualitative information obtained through a five-day site visit in Tennessee.

D. Recent Legislative Proposals

There are several recent legislative proposals designed to increase work incentives among persons with disabilities through expanded eligibility for government provided health insurance programs. Three of these proposals are largely designed to create positive work incentives through modification and removal of eligibility criteria which restrict Medicare coverage of persons with disabilities with earnings above the currently allowed levels. If loss of Medicare coverage resulting from higher earnings is a significant deterrent to increased labor force participation, these proposals may increase employment among persons with disabilities. Below, we present a description of the current proposals. The fourth proposal, in the Administration's proposed 1998 budget, is a Medicaid coverage expansion which has now become a state option for individuals whose family income is at or below 250 percent of poverty.

1. The Work Incentive and Self-Sufficiency ("Jeffords") Act of 1996 (S. 19179)

The Work Incentive and Self-Sufficiency Act of 1996 was introduced to the Senate by Senator Jeffords on July 22, 1996. This proposed act is designed to create a variety of work incentives for DI beneficiaries by extending Medicare benefits to those whose work efforts yield incomes in excess of current allowable levels. No action was taken on this proposal during the 104th Congress.

Continuation of Medicare and Medicare Buy-In: The primary means of increasing work incentives is an extension of Medicare benefits for those with monthly earnings greater than \$500 (the level of income defined as substantial gainful activity). Such individuals would continue to receive Medicare benefits at no cost unless their annual income exceeds \$15,000 (\$1250/month). Beyond that, beneficiaries would pay premiums equal to 10 percent of their income in excess of \$15,000.

Currently, individuals with monthly earnings of more than \$500 may continue to receive Medicare benefits for up to 40 months, at which point they must pay the full cost of both the Part A and Part B Medicare Premiums if they wish to continue coverage. These premiums may equal up to \$330/month if income exceeds 200 percent of the federal poverty guidelines.

Creation of a New DI Beneficiary Class: The Act is also designed to provide Medicare Part A (hospital insurance) for certain individuals with disabilities who are currently ineligible. Under this proposal, individuals may qualify for the Medicare Buy-In (but not DI cash benefits) if they meet the impairment criteria for disability, even if they do not meet the work criteria (i.e., they are earning more than SGA). These individuals would receive Medicare coverage without having to complete the two-year waiting period currently required of DI beneficiaries. This program would provide health insurance to working persons with significant disabilities without requiring them to reduce their work effort in order to meet the standard criteria for DI.

2. The Rehabilitation and Return to Work Opportunity ("Bunning") Act of 1996 (H.R. 4230)

Representative Bunning introduced The Rehabilitation and Return to Work Opportunity Act of 1996 to the House on September 27, 1996. Although this proposed act is similar in theory to the proposed Jeffords Act, there are differences in the policies used to increase work incentives for persons with disabilities. Like the Jeffords Act, no action was taken on this proposal during the 104th Congress.

Continuation of Medicare Benefits: The act provides for a five-year continuation of Medicare coverage for Old Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance (OASDI) beneficiaries who return to work. Current DI provisions only allow for a maximum of 36 months of continued Medicare coverage for beneficiaries who return to work. In order to be eligible, individuals must have received OASDI benefits for 3

consecutive months and had monthly earnings of at least 160 times the minimum wage (\$760 per month or \$9,120 per year).

Elimination of Benefits for Certain Out of Work Individuals: The act also calls for the repeal of authority for continuation of Medicare Hospital Insurance benefit coverage for individuals who are temporarily out of work. By dissolving benefits for those not currently working, individuals may face stronger incentives to remain working.

3. The Transition to Work ("Kennelly") Act of 1997 (H.R. 534)

Representative Kennelly introduced the Transition to Work Act of 1997 to the House on February 4, 1997. This proposed act is built on the Jeffords Act and the Bunning Bill and calls for creation of work incentives through policies suggested in each of the aforementioned acts. The bill was referred to the House Subcommittee on Postsecondary Education, Training, and Life-Long Learning on March 3, 1997.

Continuation of Medicare Benefits and Medicare Buy-In: Similar to The Bunning Bill, The Transition to Work Act of 1997 would continue Medicare coverage for DI beneficiaries for five years after cessation of DI benefits due to earnings in excess of current limits.

After the five year period has passed, beneficiaries may choose to continue Medicare benefits via a sliding scale buy-in program similar to that introduced in The Jeffords Act. The maximum monthly payment would be equal to 10 percent of monthly earnings in excess of \$1,250 (\$15,000 per year).

Again, under current policy Medicare continues to be provided for three years, after which beneficiaries are required to pay the full monthly premium, equal to approximately \$330 if income exceeds 200 percent of the federal poverty guidelines. This full premium amount is substantially higher than that proposed under the Transition to Work Act. For example, an individual earning \$25,000 per year would face monthly premium payments of only \$83 under the proposed act.²³

4. The Clinton Administration's Proposed U.S. Budget for Fiscal Year 1998, Section 11522 "State Option to Permit Workers With Disabilities to Buy Into Medicaid."

The Administration's proposed 1998 Budget included an option which would allow states to offer a Medicaid buy-in to certain low-income persons with disabilities. Under this option, persons with earnings in excess of the section 1619(b) income limit

 $^{^{23}}$ This amount is calculated as follows: [(\$25,000 - \$15,000) * 0.10] / 12 \approx \$83 .

who would otherwise be receiving SSI benefits could buy into the Medicaid program. While the size of premiums would be decided on the State-level, they would all be required to have a sliding scale which defined premium levels as a function of income.

This provision was approved and has become a state option for SSI recipients whose family income is at or below 250 percent of poverty.

VII. REFERENCES

- Alecxih L., Corea, J., and Kennell, D. (1995). "Implications of Health Care Financing, Delivery, and Benefit Design for Persons with Disabilities" from *Persons with Disabilities: Issues in Health Care Financing and Service Delivery*, Wiener, Clauser, and Kennell, editors. Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution.
- Andrews, R.M., Ruther, M., and Baugh, D.K. (1988). Medicaid Expenditures for the Disabled Under a Work Incentive Program. *Health Care Financing Review*. 9(3) 1-8.
- Blank, R.M. (1988). The Effect of Medical Need and Medicaid on AFDC Participation. *Journal of Human Resources*, Vol. 24(1), 54-87.
- Blau, David M. and Gilleskie, Donna B. (1997). "Retiree Health Insurance and the Labor Force Behavior of Older Men in the 1990s." Unpublished, February 1997.
- Bound, J., Kossoudji, S., and Ricart-Moes, G. (forthcoming). The Ending of General Assistance and SSI Disability Growth in Michigan, from *The Social Security Administration's Disability Programs: Explanations of Recent Growth & Implications for Disability Policy*, Rupp and Stapleton, editors. Kalamazoo, MI: W.E. Upjohn Institute.
- Bye, B. and Riley, G. (1989). Eliminating the Medicare Waiting Period for Social Security Disabled-Worker Beneficiaries. *Social Security Bulletin*, 52() 2-15.
- Cutler, David M. and Gruber, Jonathan (1996). "Does Public Insurance Crowd Out Private Insurance." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* (May) 319-430.
- Cutler, D. and Gruber, J. (1997). "Medicaid and Private Insurance: Evidence and Implications." *Health Affairs*, 16(1), 194-200
- Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives (1994). *1994 Green Book*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Dubay, L. and Kenny, G. (1997). "Did Medicaid Expansions for Preganant Women Crowd Out Private Coverage?" *Health Affairs*, 16(1), 185-193.
- Ellwood, D.T. and Adams, K. (1990). Medicaid Mysteries: Transitional benefits, Medicaid Coverage, and Welfare Exits. *Health Care Financing Review*. Annual Supplement, 119 - 131.
- Employment Experiences of Working-Age Adults with Severe Physical Disabilities in Dane County, Wisconsin. Final Report for Employment Resources, Inc., June 1993.

- Ficke, R.C. (1991). *Digest of Data on Persons with Disabilities*. Washington, DC: National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research.
- Friedland, R.B., and Evans, A. (1996). *People with Disabilities: Access to Health Care and Related Benefits* in <u>Disability Work and Case Benefits</u>. Mashaw, et al. (eds.) Kalamazoo, MI: Upjohn Institute.
- General Accounting Office (1996). SSA Disability: Program Redesign Necessary to Encourage Return to Work, (GAO/HEHS-96-62).
- Gruber, J. and Madrian, B. (1994). Health Insurance Availability and the Retirement Decision. *American Economic Review*, Vol. 85, 938-48.
- Gruber, J. and Kubik, J. (1995). "Health Insurance and Welfare Participation: A Literature Review." Paper prepared for the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities.
- Gustman, A.L. and T.L. Steinmeier (1994). Employer-Provided Health Insurance and Retirement Behavior. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 48(1), 124-140.
- Hayward, Becky (1997). Personal correspondence regarding Research Triangle Institute's longitudinal study of the Vocational Rehabilitation Service Program.
- Hennessey, J.C. and L.S. Muller (1994). Work Efforts of Disabled-Worker Beneficiaries: Preliminary Findings From the New Beneficiary Follow-up Survey. *Social Security Bulletin*, 57(3) Fall 1994.
- Hennessey, J.C. and L.S. Muller (1995). The Effect of Vocational Rehabilitation and Work Incentives on Helping the Disabled-Worker Beneficiary Back to Work. *Social Security Bulletin*, 58(1) Spring 1995.
- Holahan, J., C. Winterbottom, and R. Rajan (1995). *The Changing Compositions of Health Insurance Coverage in the United States*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Karoly, L.A. and J.A. Rogowski (1994). The Effect of Access to Post-retirement Health Insurance on the Decision to Retire Early. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 48(1) 103123.
- Karoly, L.A. and J.A. Rogowski (1996). "Retiree Health Benefits, Retirement Behavior, and Health Insurance Reform," working paper, RAND, Santa Monica, CA.
- LaPlante, M.P. (1993). *Disability, Health Insurance Coverage, and Utilization of Acute Health Services in the United States* (Report No. 4 (NIDRR CA #G0087C2014)). Washington, DC: National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research. [http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/dhicues.htm]

- Lewin-VHI (1995a). Longer-term Factors Affecting DI and SSI Disability Applications and Awards. Washington, DC: Final Report to the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, and the Social Security Administration.
- Lewin-VHI (1995b). An Exploratory Study of Barriers and Incentives to Improving Labor Force Participation Among Persons with Significant Disabilities. Washington, DC: Final Report to the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. [http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/explores.htm]
- Lewin-VHI. (1995c) *Health Care Use and Expenditures for Persons with and without Disabilities*. Washington, DC: The Health Care Financing Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Lewin-VHI. (1995d) Catastrophic Health Care Expenditures and Medicaid Coverage Among Community Residents. Washington, DC: The Health Care Financing Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- The Lewin Group (1997). *Exploratory Study of Health Care Coverage and Employment of People with Disabilities, Draft Analysis Plan.* Washington, DC: Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, Department of Health and Human Services.
- Lumsdaine, R.L., J.H. Stock, and D.A. Wise (1996). "Why are Retirement Rates so High at Age 65?" in D.A. Wise (ed.), *Advances in the Economics of Aging*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Mathematica Policy Research (1995). *Expanding the Employment of Persons with Disabilities: Opportunities and Constraints*. Washington, DC: American Association of Retired Persons.
- McNeil, J.M. (1993). Americans with Disabilities: 1991-92: Data from the Survey of Income and Program Participation (P70-33, Current Population Reports: Household Economic Studies). Washington, DC: Bureau of the Census, Economics and Statistics Administration.
- Moffitt, R. and Wolfe, B. (1992). The Effect of the Medicaid Program on Welfare Participation and Labor Supply. Review of Economics and Statistics, 124(4), 615-626.
- Muller, S. (1992). Disability Beneficiaries Who Work and Their Experience Under Program Work Incentives. *Social Security Bulletin* 55(2) 2-19.
- National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research (1992). *Disability Statistics Abstract* (No. 4) Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

- Rocklin, S.G. and D.R. Mattson (1987). The Employment Opportunities for Disabled Americans Act: Legislative History and Summary of Provisions. *Social Security Bulletin*, 50(3) 25-35.
- Rust, J. and Phelan, C. (forthcoming). How Social Security and Medicare Affect Retirement Behavior in a World of Incomplete Markets. *Econometrica*.
- Social Security Administration (1986). Implementation and Analysis of Public Law 9-460Section 1619 (The Social Security Disability Benefits Reform Act of 1984). *Social Security Bulletin*, 49(11), 11-45.
- Social Security Administration (1994a). *Red Book on Work Incentives -- A Summary Guide to Social Security and Supplemental Security Income Work Incentives for People with Disabilities.*
- Social Security Administration (1994b). *The 1994 Field Office Survey of Disability Applicants*. Obtained from Robert Ferguson, Social Security Administration.
- Study of End-Stage-Renal-Disease (ESRD) Dialysis Patients. Medical Education Institute, University Research Park, Madison, WI, and Department of Pediatric Nephrology, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI.
- Thompson, L.H. (1991). Significant Reductions in Corporate Retiree Health Liabilities Projected if Medical Eligibility Age Lowered to 60. GAO/T-HRD-92-7). Washington, DC: General Accounting Office.
- The Urban Institute (1997). *Uninsured Older Adults: Implications for Changing Medicare Eligibility*. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute.
- U.S. Department of Labor, Pension, and Welfare Benefits Administration (1995). Retirement Benefits of American Workers: New Findings from the September 1994 Current Population Survey. Washington, DC: US GPO.
- Winkler, A.E. (1990). The Incentive Effects of Medicaid on Women's Labor Supply. *Journal of Human Resources*, Vol. 26(2), 308-337.
- Wolfe, B. (forthcoming). "Discussion of The Impact of Health Care Costs and Medicaid on SSI Participation," in *The Social Security Administration's Disability Programs: Explanations of Recent Growth & Implications for Disability Policy*, Rupp and Stapleton, editors. Kalamazoo, MI: W.E. Upjohn Institute.
- Wolfe, B. and Hill, S. (1995). The Effect of Health on the Work Effort of Single Mothers. *Journal of Human Resources*, 30(1), 42-62.

- Yelowitz, A. (1995). The Medicaid Notch, Labor Supply and Welfare Participation: Evidence from Eligibility Expansions. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 110(4), 909-939.
- Yelowitz, A. (1996). Using the Medicare Buy-in Program to Estimate the Effect of Medicaid on SSI Participation. University of California Los Angeles (Working Paper).
- Yelowitz, A. (forthcoming). "Why Did the SSI-Disabled Program Grow So Much? Disentangling the Effect of Medicaid," in *Growth in Income Entitlement Benefits for Disability: Explanations and Policy Implications*. K. Rupp and D. Stapleton (eds.) Kalamazoo, MI: The Upjohn Institute.

EXPLORATORY STUDY OF HEALTH CARE COVERAGE AND THE EMPLOYMENT OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Reports Available

Exploratory Study of Health Care Coverage and Employment of People with Disabilities: Final Report

Executive Summaryhttp://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/1998/eshccrptes.htmHTMLhttp://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/1998/eshccrpt.htmPDFhttp://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/1998/eshccrpt.pdf

Exploratory Study of Health Care Coverage and Employment of People with Disabilities: Literature Review

Executive Summary	http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/1997/eshcclites.htm
HTML	http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/1997/eshcclit.htm
PDF	http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/1997/eshcclit.pdf

To obtain a printed copy of this report, send the full report title and your mailing information to:

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy Room 424E, H.H. Humphrey Building 200 Independence Avenue, S.W. Washington, D.C. 20201 FAX: 202-401-7733 Email: webmaster.DALTCP@hhs.gov

RETURN TO:

Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy (DALTCP) Home [http://aspe.hhs.gov/_/office_specific/daltcp.cfm]

Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) Home [http://aspe.hhs.gov]

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Home [http://www.hhs.gov]